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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Crown Castle Inc.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Crown Castle Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), of equity (deficit) and of cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2024, including the related notes and financial statement schedules listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)(2) (collectively
referred to as the “consolidated financial statements™). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024,
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2024 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework
(2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's
internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control
over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and
testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.Because of
its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies
or procedures may deteriorate.
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Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter
in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing
separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Revenue Recognition - Towers Segment - Site Rental Revenues

As described in Notes 2 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company recognized $4,266 million in site rental revenues from the Towers
segment for the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company generates site rental revenues from its core business by providing tenants with access to its
shared communications infrastructure via long-term tenant contracts in various forms, including lease, license, sublease and service agreements. Providing such
access over the length of the tenant contract term represents the Company’s sole performance obligation under its tenant contracts. Site rental revenues from the
Company's tenant contracts are recognized on a straight-line, ratable basis over the fixed, non-cancelable term of the relevant tenant contract.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to revenue recognition for the site rental revenues from the Towers
segment is a critical audit matter are a high degree of auditor effort in performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence related to revenue recognition for
the site rental revenues from the Towers segment.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to revenue recognition for the site rental revenues from the Towers
segment. These procedures also included, among others (i) testing management’s identification of the contractual terms by obtaining and inspecting tenant
contracts and other relevant source documents on a test basis and (ii) testing the appropriateness of the amount of revenue recognized based on contractual
terms on a test basis.

Quantitative Goodwill Impairment Test — Fiber Reporting Unit

As described in Notes 2 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s consolidated goodwill balance was $5,127 million as of December 31,
2024. Management tests goodwill for impairment at least annually or whenever events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
The quantitative goodwill impairment test compares the estimated fair value of the reporting unit and the carrying value of the reporting unit. If the carrying
amount of a reporting unit is greater than its fair value, an impairment loss shall be recognized in an amount equal to such excess, limited to the total amount of
goodwill allocated to the reporting unit. Management performed the most recent annual goodwill impairment test in the fourth quarter of 2024. The quantitative
impairment test indicated that the carrying amount of the Company’s Fiber reporting unit exceeded its estimated fair value. As such, management recorded an
impairment charge of $4,958 million, which resulted in no goodwill remaining for the Fiber reporting unit. The means of estimating the fair value of the
Company’s reporting units is using discounted cash flow (DCF) models developed by management. Key assumptions and estimates used in the DCF models
included projected future revenues, operating cash flows, capital expenditures (net of certain payments received from customers), an exit multiple and a
discount rate.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the quantitative goodwill impairment test of the Fiber reporting unit is
a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when developing the fair value estimate of the Fiber reporting unit; (ii) a high degree of
auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing the procedures and evaluating management’s significant assumptions related to the exit multiple and
discount rate; and (iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to management’s quantitative goodwill impairment test, including
controls over the valuation of the Fiber reporting unit. These procedures also included, among others (i) testing management’s process for developing the fair
value estimate of the Fiber reporting unit; (ii) evaluating the appropriateness of the DCF model used by management; (iii) testing the completeness and
accuracy of underlying data used in the DCF model; and (iv) evaluating the reasonableness of management’s significant
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assumptions related to the exit multiple and discount rate. Evaluating management's assumption related to the exit multiple involved evaluating whether the
assumption used by management was reasonable considering the consistency with external market and industry data. Professionals with specialized skill and
knowledge were used to assist in the evaluation of (i) the appropriateness of the DCF model and (ii) the reasonableness of the exit multiple and discount rate
assumptions.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania

March 14, 2025

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2011.
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CROWN CASTLE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
(In millions of dollars, except par values)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Receivables, net of allowance of $22 and $19, respectively
Prepaid expenses
Current portion of deferred site rental receivables
Other current assets
Total current assets
Deferred site rental receivables
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Goodwill
Site rental contracts and tenant relationships, net
Other intangible assets, net
Other assets, net
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued interest
Deferred revenues
Other accrued liabilities
Current maturities of debt and other obligations
Current portion of operating lease liabilities
Total current liabilities
Debt and other long-term obligations
Operating lease liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (see note 12)
CCI stockholders' equity (deficit):

Common stock, $0.01 par value; 1,200 shares authorized; shares issued and outstanding: December 31, 2024—435 and
December 31, 2023—434

Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Dividends/distributions in excess of earnings
Total equity (deficit)
Total liabilities and equity (deficit)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,
2024 2023

119 $ 105
171 171
478 481
106 103
176 116
40 56
1,090 1,032
2,343 2,239
15,495 15,666
5,797 6,187
5,127 10,085
2,727 3,122
54 57
103 139
32,736 $ 38,527
192§ 252
244 219
476 605
359 342
610 835
296 332
2,177 2,585
23,471 22,086
5,236 5,561
1,985 1,914
32,869 32,146
4 4
18,393 18,270
(%) @
(18,525) (11,889)
(133) 6,381
32,736 $ 38,527




CROWN CASTLE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
(In millions of dollars, except per share amounts)

Net revenues:
Site rental
Services and other
Net revenues
Operating expenses:
Costs of operations:®
Site rental
Services and other
Selling, general and administrative
Asset write-down charges
Acquisition and integration costs
Depreciation, amortization and accretion
Restructuring charges
Goodwill impairment charges
Total operating expenses
Operating income (loss)
Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs, net
Gains (losses) on retirement of long-term obligations
Interest income
Other income (expense)
Income (loss) before income taxes
Benefit (provision) for income taxes
Net income (loss)
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Total other comprehensive income (loss)
Comprehensive income (loss)
Net income (loss), per common share:
Net income (loss)—basic
Net income (loss)—diluted
Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

(a) Exclusive of depreciation, amortization and accretion shown separately.

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
6,358 S 6,532 $ 6,289
210 449 697
6,568 6,981 6,986
1,728 1,664 1,602
119 316 466
706 759 750
148 33 34
— 1 2
1,738 1,754 1,707
109 85 —
4,958 — —
9,506 4,612 4,561
(2,938) 2,369 2,425
(932) (850) (699)
— (28)
19 15 3
(28) (6) (10)
(3,879) 1,528 1,691
(24) (26) (16)
(3,903) $ 1,502 $ 1,675
[©)) 1 1)
(D 1 (D
(3,904) $ 1,503 $ 1,674
(8.98) $ 346 $ 3.87
(8.98) $ 346 $ 3.86
434 434 433
434 434 434

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CROWN CASTLE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(In millions of dollars)

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net Income (loss) $ (3,903) $ 1,502 $ 1,675
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used for) operating activities:
Depreciation, amortization and accretion 1,738 1,754 1,707
Goodwill impairment charges 4,958 — — —
(Gains) losses on retirement of long-term obligations — — 28
Amortization of deferred financing costs and other non-cash interest 32 29 17
Stock-based compensation expense, net 131 157 156
Asset write-down charges 148 33 34
Deferred income tax (benefit) provision 4 8 3
Restructuring charges, non-cash 12 7 —
Other non-cash adjustments, net 23 7 5
Changes in assets and liabilities, excluding the effects of acquisitions:
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest 25 36 —
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (22) (14) 5)
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities 91) (265) (281)
Decrease (increase) in receivables 6 115 (49)
Decrease (increase) in other assets (118) (243) 412)
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities 2,943 3,126 2,878
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures (1,222) (1,424) (1,310)
Payments for acquisitions, net of cash acquired ®) (96) (35)
Other investing activities, net 10 1 (@)
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities (1,220) (1,519) (1,352)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 1,244 3,843 748
Principal payments on debt and other long-term obligations (99) (79) (74)
Purchases and redemptions of long-term debt (750) (750) (1,274)
Borrowings under revolving credit facility — 3,613 3,495
Payments under revolving credit facility (670) (4,248) (2,855)
Net issuances (repayments) under commercial paper program 1,341 (1,241) 976
Payments for financing costs (12) 39) (14)
Purchases of common stock (33) (30) (65)
Dividends/distributions paid on common stock (2,729) (2,723) (2,602)
Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities (1,708) (1,654) (1,665)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents 15 47) (139)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (1) 1 —
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 281 327 466
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 295 § 281 $ 327

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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CROWN CASTLE INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EQUITY (DEFICIT)

Balance, December 31, 2021

Stock-based compensation related activity, net of forfeitures
Purchases and retirement of common stock

Other comprehensive income (loss)®

Common stock dividends/distributions

Net income (loss)

Balance, December 31, 2022

Stock-based compensation related activity, net of forfeitures
Purchases and retirement of common stock

Other comprehensive income (loss)®

Common stock dividends/distributions

Net income (loss)

Balance, December 31, 2023

Stock-based compensation related activity, net of forfeitures
Purchases and retirement of common stock

Other comprehensive income (loss)®

Common stock dividends/distributions

Net income (loss)

Balance, December 31, 2024

(Amounts in millions)

Common Stock Accumulated Other

Additional Comprehensive Dividends/Distributions
($0.01 Par) Paid-In Capital Income (Loss) in Excess of Earnings Total

432§ 4 8 18011 § “ s (9,753) 8,258
T — 170 — — 170
— — (65) — — (65)
_ _ _ ) — 1
— — — — (2,588) (2,588)
— — — = 1,675 1,675
433 4 18,116 (5) (10,666) 7,449
] — 184 — — 184
— — (30) — — (30)
= — — 1 — 1
— — — — (2,725) (2,725)
— — — = 1,502 1,502
434 4 18,270 (4) (11,889) 6,381
1 — 156 — — 156
— — (33) — — 33)
_ — — o = M
— — — — (2,733) (2,733)
— — = — (3,903) (3,903)
435 $ 4 8 18,393 § 5) S (18,525) $ (133)

(a) See the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the components of "total other comprehensive income (loss)."

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

63



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

1. Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Crown Castle Inc. and its predecessor, as applicable (together, "CCI"), and their
subsidiaries, collectively referred to herein as the "Company." All significant intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. As
used herein, the term "including," and any variation thereof, means "including without limitation." The use of the word "or" herein is not exclusive. Unless the
context suggests otherwise, references to "U.S." are to the United States of America and Puerto Rico, collectively.

The Company owns, operates and leases shared communications infrastructure that is geographically dispersed throughout the U.S., including (1) towers
and other structures, such as rooftops (collectively, "towers"), and (2) fiber primarily supporting small cell networks ("small cells") and fiber solutions. The
Company's towers, small cells and fiber assets are collectively referred to herein as "communications infrastructure,”" and the Company's customers on its
communications infrastructure are referred to herein as "tenants."

The Company's core business is providing access, including space or capacity, to its shared communications infrastructure via long-term contracts in
various forms, including lease, license, sublease and service agreements (collectively, "tenant contracts").

The Company's operating segments consist of (1) Towers and (2) Fiber. See note 14.

On March 13, 2025, the Company signed a definitive agreement (“Strategic Fiber Agreement”) to sell its Fiber segment, together with certain supporting
assets and personnel ("Fiber Business"), with Zayo Group Holdings Inc. ("Zayo") acquiring the fiber solutions business and EQT Active Core Infrastructure
fund ("EQT") acquiring the small cell business ("Strategic Fiber Transaction"). The Fiber Business did not meet the criteria for assets held for sale as of
December 31, 2024, and therefore remains presented as a component of continuing operations. As a result, this document, unless otherwise noted, does not
contemplate the planned sale of the Fiber Business. In subsequent periods, the Fiber Business will be presented as a discontinued operation, and its net assets
will be classified as held for sale and comparable prior periods will be recast to reflect this change. See note 17.

Approximately 54% of the Company's towers are leased or subleased or operated and managed under master leases, subleases, and other agreements with
AT&T and T-Mobile (including those which T-Mobile assumed in its merger with Sprint). The Company has the option to purchase these towers at the end of
their respective lease terms. The Company has no obligation to exercise such purchase options. See notes 4 and 13.

As part of the Company's effort to provide comprehensive communications infrastructure solutions, as an ancillary business, the Company also offers
certain services primarily relating to its Towers segment. For the periods presented, such services predominately consisted of (1) site development services
relating to existing or new tenant equipment installations, including: site acquisition, architectural and engineering, or zoning and permitting (collectively, "site
development services") and (2) tenant equipment installation and subsequent augmentations (collectively, "installation services").

See note 16 to the Company's consolidated financial statements for a discussion of (1) the Company's July 2023 restructuring plan ("2023 Restructuring
Plan"), which included discontinuing installation services as a Towers product offering and (2) the Company's June 2024 restructuring plan ("2024
Restructuring Plan," and together with the 2023 Restructuring Plan, "Restructuring Plans").

The Company operates as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In addition, the Company has certain taxable REIT subsidiaries ("TRSs"). See
note 9.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities as of the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents

Restricted cash and cash equivalents represents (1) the cash held in reserve by the indenture trustees pursuant to the indenture governing certain of the
Company's debt instruments, (2) cash securing performance obligations such as letters of credit and (3) any other cash whose use is limited by contractual
provisions. The restriction of rental cash receipts is a critical feature of certain of the Company's debt instruments due to the applicable indenture trustee's
ability to utilize the restricted cash for the payment of (1) debt service costs, (2) ground rents, (3) real estate or personal property taxes, (4) insurance premiums
related to towers, (5) other assessments by governmental authorities and potential environmental remediation costs or (6) a portion of advance rents from
tenants. The restricted cash in excess of required reserve balances is subsequently released to the Company in accordance with the terms of the indentures. See
note 15 for a reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents.

Receivables Allowance

An allowance for credit losses is recorded as an offset to accounts receivable. The Company uses judgment in estimating this allowance and considers
historical collections, current credit status, or contractual provisions. Additions to the allowance for credit losses are charged either to "Site rental costs of
operations" or to "Services and other costs of operations," as appropriate, and deductions from the allowance are recorded when specific accounts receivable
are written off as uncollectible.

Lease Accounting

General. The Company evaluates whether a contract meets the definition of a lease whenever a contract grants a party the right to control the use of an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. To the extent the identified asset is able to be shared among multiple parties, the Company
has determined that one party does not have control of the identified asset and the contract is not considered a lease. The Company accounts for contracts that
do not meet the definition of a lease under other relevant accounting guidance (such as ASC 606 for revenue from contracts with customers).

Lessee. For its Tower segment, the Company's lessee arrangements primarily consist of ground leases for land under towers. Ground leases for land are
specific to each site, generally contain an initial term between five to 15 years and are renewable (and cancellable after a notice period) at the Company's
option. The Company also enters into term ground leases, such as term easements, in which it prepays the entire term. For its Fiber segment, the Company's
lessee arrangements primarily include leases of fiber assets to support the Company's small cells and fiber solutions.

The majority of the Company's lease agreements have certain termination rights that provide for cancellation after a notice period and multiple renewal
options exercisable at the Company's option. The Company includes renewal option periods in its calculation of the estimated lease term when it determines the
options are reasonably certain to be exercised. When such renewal options are deemed to be reasonably certain, the estimated lease term determined under ASC
842 will be greater than the non-cancelable term of the contractual arrangement. Although certain renewal periods are included in the estimated lease term, the
Company would have the ability to terminate or elect to not renew a particular lease if business conditions warrant such a decision.

The Company classifies its lessee arrangements at inception as either operating leases or finance leases. A lease is classified as a finance lease if at least
one of the following criteria is met: (1) the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee, (2) the lease grants the lessee an option to purchase
the underlying asset that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise, (3) the lease term is for a major part of the remaining economic life of the underlying asset,
(4) the present value of the sum of the lease payments equals or exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the underlying asset, or (5) the underlying asset is
of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no alternative use to the lessor at the end of the lease term. A lease is classified as an operating lease if
none of the five criteria described above for finance lease classification is met.

Right-of-use ("ROU") assets associated with operating leases are included in "Operating lease right-of-use assets" on the Company's consolidated balance
sheet. Current and long-term portions of lease liabilities related to operating leases are included in "Current portion of operating lease liabilities" and
"Operating lease liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet, respectively. ROU assets represent the Company's right to use an underlying asset for
the estimated lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company's present value of its future lease payments. In assessing its leases and determining its lease
liability at lease commencement or upon modification, the Company is not able to readily determine the rate implicit for its lessee arrangements, and thus uses
its incremental borrowing rate on a collateralized basis to determine the present value of the lease payments. The Company's ROU assets are measured as the
balance of the lease liability plus any prepaid or accrued lease payments and any unamortized initial direct costs. For both the Towers and Fiber segments,
operating lease expenses are recognized on a ratable basis, regardless of whether the payment terms require the Company to make payments annually, semi-
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
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annually, quarterly, monthly, or for the entire term in advance. Certain of the Company's ground lease and fiber lease agreements contain fixed escalation
clauses (such as fixed dollar or fixed percentage increases) or inflation-based escalation clauses (such as those tied to the change in consumer price index
("CPI")). If the payment terms include fixed escalators, upfront payments, or rent-free periods, the effect of such increases is recognized on a straight-line basis.
The Company calculates the straight-line expense over the contract's estimated lease term, including any renewal option periods that the Company deems
reasonably certain to be exercised.

Lease agreements may also contain provisions for a contingent payment based on (1) the revenues derived from the communications infrastructure
located on the leased asset, (2) the change in CPI or (3) the usage of the leased asset. The Company's contingent payments are considered variable lease
payments and are (1) not included in the initial measurement of the ROU asset or lease liability due to the uncertainty of the payment amount and (2) recorded
as expense in the period such contingencies are resolved.

ROU assets associated with finance leases are included in "Property and equipment, net" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. Lease liabilities
associated with finance leases are included in "Current maturities of debt and other obligations" and "Debt and other long-term obligations" on the Company's
consolidated balance sheet. For both its Towers and Fiber segments, the Company measures the lease liability for finance leases using the effective interest
method. The initial lease liability is increased to reflect interest on the liability and decreased to reflect payments made during the period. Interest on the lease
liability is determined each period during the lease term as the amount that results in a constant periodic discount rate on the remaining balance of the liability.
The Company depreciates ROU assets for finance leases on a ratable basis over the applicable lease term.

The Company reviews the carrying value of its ROU assets for impairment, similar to its other long-lived assets, whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. The Company could record impairments in the future if there are changes in (1) long-
term market conditions, (2) expected future operating results or (3) the utility of the assets that negatively impact the fair value of its ROU assets.

Lessor. The Company's lessor arrangements primarily include tenant contracts for dedicated space (including dedicated fiber) on its shared
communications infrastructure. The Company classifies its leases at inception as operating, direct financing or sales-type leases. A lease is classified as a sales-
type lease if at least one of the following criteria is met: (1) the lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset to the lessee, (2) the lease grants the lessee an
option to purchase the underlying asset that the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise, (3) the lease term is for a major part of the remaining economic life of
the underlying asset, (4) the present value of the sum of the lease payments equals or exceeds substantially all of the fair value of the underlying assets or (5)
the underlying asset is of such a specialized nature that it is expected to have no alternative use to the lessor at the end of the lease term. Furthermore, when
none of the above criteria is met, a lease is classified as a direct financing lease if both of the following criteria are met: (1) the present value of the of the sum
of the lease payments and any residual value guaranteed by the lessee, that is not already reflected in the lease payments, equals or exceeds the fair value of the
underlying asset and (2) it is probable that the lessor will collect the lease payments plus any amount necessary to satisfy a residual value guarantee. A lease is
classified as an operating lease if it does not qualify as a sales-type or direct financing lease. Currently, the Company classifies all of its lessor arrangements as
operating leases.

Site rental revenues from the Company’s lessor arrangements are recognized on a straight-line, ratable basis over the fixed, non-cancelable term of the
relevant tenant contract, regardless of whether the payments from the tenant are received in equal monthly amounts during the life of a tenant contract. Certain
of the Company's tenant contracts contain fixed escalation clauses (such as fixed-dollar or fixed-percentage increases) or inflation-based escalation clauses
(such as those tied to the change in CPI). If the payment terms call for fixed escalators, upfront payments, or rent-free periods, the rental revenue is recognized
on a straight-line basis over the fixed, non-cancelable term of the agreement. When calculating straight-line site rental revenues, the Company considers all
fixed elements of tenant contractual escalation provisions.

Certain of the Company's arrangements with tenants in its Fiber segment contain both lease and non-lease components. In such circumstances, the
Company has determined (1) the timing and pattern of transfer for the lease and non-lease component are the same and (2) the stand-alone lease component
would be classified as an operating lease. As such, the Company has aggregated certain non-lease components with lease components and has determined that
the lease components (generally dedicated fiber) represent the predominant component of the arrangement.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Property and equipment includes land owned through fee interests and
perpetual easements, which have no definite life. Depreciation is computed utilizing the straight-line
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method at rates based upon the estimated useful lives of the various classes of assets. Depreciation for the majority of communications infrastructure is
computed with a useful life equal to the shorter of 20 years or the term of the underlying ground lease (where applicable and including optional renewal
periods). Additions and permanent improvements to the Company's communications infrastructure are capitalized, while maintenance and repairs are expensed.

Labor and interest costs incurred directly related to the construction of certain property and equipment are capitalized during the construction phase of
projects. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company recorded $298 million, $299 million and $265 million in capitalized labor
costs, respectively. The carrying value of property and equipment is reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable.

Abandonments and write-offs of property and equipment are recorded to "Asset write-down charges" on the Company's consolidated statement of
operations and comprehensive income (loss) and were $146 million, $40 million and $39 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. The increase in asset write-down charges from 2023 to 2024 is primarily driven by the cancellation of approximately 7,000 greenfield small cell
nodes in the Company's contracted backlog that it mutually agreed to cancel following discussions with certain of its tenants. The Company wrote off property
and equipment deemed to have no alternative future use, and as a result, recognized approximately $106 million as "Asset write-down charges" on its
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2024.

Asset Retirement Obligations

Pursuant to its ground lease, leased facility and certain pole attachment agreements, the Company records obligations to perform asset retirement
activities, including requirements to remove communications infrastructure or remediate the space on which certain of its communications infrastructure is
located. The Company does not record an obligation for asset retirement activities related to its fiber, as a settlement date is indeterminable and therefore a
reasonable estimation of fair value cannot be made. Asset retirement obligations are included in "Other long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated
balance sheet. The liability accretes as a result of the passage of time and the related accretion expense is included in "Depreciation, amortization and accretion"
on the Company's consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as an additional
carrying amount of the related long-lived asset and depreciated over the useful life of such asset.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price for an acquired business over the allocated value of the related net assets. Management tests
goodwill for impairment at least annually or whenever events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The annual test begins
with goodwill and all intangible assets being allocated to applicable reporting units. The Company's reporting units are the same as its operating segments
(Towers and Fiber). The Company then performs a qualitative assessment to determine whether it is "more likely than not" that the fair value of the reporting
unit is less than its carrying amount. If the Company concludes it is "more likely than not" that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount,
it is necessary to perform a quantitative goodwill impairment test. The quantitative goodwill impairment test compares the estimated fair value of the reporting
unit and the carrying value of the reporting unit. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit is greater than its fair value, an impairment loss shall be recognized
in an amount equal to such excess, limited to the total amount of goodwill allocated to the reporting unit. The Company performed its most recent annual
goodwill impairment test during the fourth quarter of 2024, which resulted in an impairment of $5.0 billion for the year ended December 31, 2024 to its Fiber
reporting unit. With respect to the Towers reporting unit, there was no indication of impairment following the quantitative assessment, as the estimated fair
value was well in excess of the corresponding carrying value. See note 5 to the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are included in "Site rental contracts and tenant relationships, net" and "Other intangible assets, net" on the Company's consolidated
balance sheet and predominately consist of the estimated fair value of site rental contracts and tenant relationships or other contractual rights, such as
trademarks, that are recorded in conjunction with acquisitions. Site rental contracts and tenant relationships intangible assets are comprised of (1) the current
term of the existing leases, (2) the high rate of tenant retention, and (3) any associated relationships that are expected to generate value following the expiration
of all renewal periods under existing leases.
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The useful lives of intangible assets are estimated based on the period over which the intangible asset is expected to benefit the Company and gives
consideration to the expected useful life of other assets to which the useful life may relate. Amortization expense for intangible assets is computed using the
straight-line method over the estimated useful life of each of the intangible assets. The useful lives of site rental contracts and tenant relationships intangible
assets are limited by the maximum depreciable life of the communications infrastructure (20 years), as a result of the interdependency of the communications
infrastructure and the site rental contracts and tenant relationships. In contrast, the site rental contracts and tenant relationships are estimated to provide
economic benefits for several decades because of the low rate of tenant cancellations and high rate of tenant retention experienced to date. Thus, while site
rental contracts and tenant relationships intangible assets are valued based upon the fair value of the site rental contracts and tenant relationships, which
includes assumptions regarding both (1) tenants' exercise of optional renewals contained in the acquired leases and (2) renewals of the acquired leases past the
contractual term including exercisable options, site rental contracts and tenant relationships intangible assets are amortized over a period not to exceed 20 years.

The carrying value of other intangible assets with finite useful lives will be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable. The Company has a dual grouping policy for purposes of determining the unit of
account for testing impairment of site rental contracts and tenant relationships intangible assets. First, the Company pools site rental contracts and tenant
relationships intangible assets with the related communications infrastructure assets into portfolio groups for purposes of determining the unit of account for
impairment testing. Second and separately, the Company pools the site rental contracts and tenant relationships by significant tenant or by tenant grouping for
individually insignificant tenants, as appropriate. If the sum of the associated estimated future cash flows (undiscounted) from an asset is less than its carrying
amount, an impairment loss may be recognized. Measurement of an impairment loss would be based on the fair value of the asset.

Deferred Credits

Deferred credits are included in "Deferred revenues" and "Other long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet and consist of the
estimated fair value of below-market tenant leases for contractual interests with tenants on acquired communications infrastructure that are amortized to site
rental revenues.

Fair value for these deferred credits represents the difference between (1) the stated contractual payments to be made pursuant to the in-place lease and (2)
management's estimate of fair market lease rates for each corresponding lease. Deferred credits are measured over a period equal to the estimated remaining
economic lease term considering renewal provisions or economics associated with those renewal provisions, to the extent applicable. Deferred credits are
amortized over their respected estimated lease terms at the time of acquisition, the most recent of which took place in 2017.

Deferred Financing Costs

Third-party costs incurred to obtain financing, with the exception of costs incurred related to revolving lines of credit, are deferred and are included as a
direct deduction from the carrying amount of the related debt liability in "Debt and other long-term obligations" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet
and are amortized using the effective interest yield methodology to "Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs, net" on the Company's
consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) over the term of the related debt liability. Third party costs incurred to obtain financing
through a revolving line of credit are deferred and are included in "Other assets, net" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet and are amortized using the
effective interest yield methodology to "Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs, net" on the Company's consolidated statement of
operations and comprehensive income (loss) over the term of the 2016 Credit Agreement (as defined in note 7).

Revenue Recognition

The Company generates site rental revenues from its core business by providing tenants with access, including space or capacity, to its shared
communications infrastructure via long-term tenant contracts in various forms, including lease, license, sublease and service agreements. Typically, providing
such access over the length of the tenant contract term represents the Company’s sole performance obligation under its tenant contracts.

Site Rental Revenues. Site rental revenues from the Company's tenant contracts are recognized on a straight-line, ratable basis over the fixed, non-
cancelable term of the relevant tenant contract, which generally ranges between five to 15 years for wireless tenants and between one to 20 years for fiber
solutions tenants (including from organizations with high-bandwidth and multi-location demands), regardless of whether the payments from the tenant are
received in equal monthly amounts during the life of the tenant contract. Certain of the Company's tenant contracts contain (1) fixed escalation clauses (such as
fixed dollar or
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fixed percentage increases) or inflation-based escalation clauses (such as those tied to the CPI), (2) multiple renewal periods exercisable at the tenant's option
and (3) only limited termination rights at the applicable tenant's option through the current term. If the payment terms call for fixed escalators, upfront
payments, or rent-free periods, the revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis over the fixed, non-cancelable term of the tenant contract. When calculating
straight-line rental revenues, the Company considers all fixed elements of tenant contractual escalation provisions, even if such escalation provisions contain a
variable element in addition to a minimum. The Company's assets related to straight-line site rental revenues are recorded within "Current portion of deferred
site rental receivables" and "Deferred site rental receivables" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. Amounts billed or received prior to being earned
are deferred and reflected in "Deferred revenues" and "Other long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. Amounts to which the
Company has an unconditional right to payment, which are related to both satisfied or partially satisfied performance obligations, are recorded within
"Receivables, net" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

Payments Associated with Sprint Cancellations. For the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, site rental revenues include $5 million
and $170 million, respectively, of payments in the Company's Fiber segment to satisfy the remaining rental obligations of certain canceled Sprint leases as a
result of the T-Mobile US, Inc. and Sprint network consolidation. In connection with such canceled Sprint leases, the Company also recognized $59 million of
accelerated prepaid rent amortization in the Company's Fiber segment for the year ended December 31, 2023 that did not recur in the year ended December 31,
2024.

Services and Other Revenues. As part of the Company’s effort to provide comprehensive communications infrastructure solutions, as an ancillary
business, the Company offers certain services primarily relating to its Towers segment. For the periods presented, such services predominately consisted of (1)
pre-construction site development services and (2) installation services. See note 16 to the Company's consolidated financial statements for a discussion of the
Company's July 2023 restructuring plan, which included discontinuing installation services as a Towers product offering. Upon contract commencement, the
Company assesses its services to tenants and identifies performance obligations for each promise to provide a distinct service.

The Company may have multiple performance obligations for site development services, which primarily include: structural analysis, zoning, permitting
and construction drawings. For each of these performance obligations, services revenues are recognized at completion of the applicable performance obligation,
which represents the point at which the Company believes it has transferred goods or services to the tenant. The services revenue recognized is based on an
allocation of the transaction price among the performance obligations in a respective tenant contract based on estimated standalone selling price. The volume
and mix of site development services may vary among tenant contracts and may include a combination of some or all of the above performance obligations.
Amounts are billed per contractual milestones, with payments generally due within 45 to 90 days, and generally do not contain variable-consideration
provisions.

The transaction price for the Company's tower installation services consists of amounts for (1) permanent improvements to the Company's towers that
represent a lease component and (2) the performance of the service. Amounts under the Company's tower installation service agreements that represent a lease
component are recognized as site rental revenues on a straight-line basis over the length of the associated estimated lease term. For the performance of the
installation service, the Company has one performance obligation, which is satisfied at the time of the applicable installation or augmentation and recognized as
services and other revenues on the Company's consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss). Since performance obligations are
typically satisfied prior to receiving payment from tenants, the unconditional right to payment is recorded within "Receivables, net" on the Company’s
consolidated balance sheet. Generally, the services the Company provides to its tenants have a duration of one year or less.

Additional Information on Revenues. As of January 1, 2024 and December 31, 2024, $2.1 billion and $2.0 billion of unrecognized revenues,
respectively, were reported in "Deferred revenues" and "Other long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. During the year
ended December 31, 2024, approximately $490 million of the January 1, 2024 unrecognized revenues balance was recognized as revenues. As of January 1,
2023, $2.3 billion of unrecognized revenues were reported in "Deferred revenues" and "Other long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance
sheet. During the year ended December 31, 2023, approximately $631 million of the January 1, 2023 unrecognized revenues balance was recognized as
revenues.

See note 3 for further discussion regarding the Company’s revenues.
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Costs of Operations

Approximately 40% of the Company's site rental costs of operations expenses consist of Towers ground lease expenses, and the remainder includes fiber
access expenses, repairs and maintenance expenses, employee compensation or related benefit costs, property taxes, or utilities. Generally, the ground leases for
land are specific to each site and are for an initial term of between five to 15 years and are renewable for pre-determined periods. The Company also enters into
ground leases, such as term easements, in which it prepays the entire term in advance. Fiber access expenses primarily consist of leases of fiber assets and other
access agreements to facilitate the Company's communications infrastructure.

Ground lease and fiber access expenses are recognized on a ratable basis, regardless of whether the payment terms require the Company to make
payments annually, semi-annually, quarterly, monthly, or for the entire term in advance. Certain of the Company's ground lease and fiber access agreements
contain fixed escalation clauses (such as fixed dollar or fixed percentage increases) or inflation-based escalation clauses (such as those tied to the change in
CPI). If the payment terms include fixed escalators, upfront payments, or rent-free periods, the effect of such increases is recognized on a straight-line basis.
When calculating straight-line ground lease and fiber access expenses, the Company considers all fixed elements of contractual escalation provisions, even if
such escalation provisions contain a variable element in addition to a minimum. The Company's liability related to straight-line expense is included in
"Operating lease right-of-use assets" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. The Company's assets related to prepaid agreements is included in "Prepaid
expenses” and "Operating lease right-of-use assets" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

Services and other costs of operations predominately consist of third-party service providers such as contractors and professional services firms and, to a
lesser extent, internal labor costs, associated with the Company's site development and installation services. See note 16 to the Company's consolidated
financial statements for a discussion of the Company's July 2023 restructuring plan, which included discontinuing installation services as a Towers product
offering. The Company's costs incurred prior to the satisfaction of associated performance obligations of $31 million and $44 million as of December 31, 2024
and 2023, respectively, are included in "Other current assets" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

Acquisitions and Integration Costs

Direct or incremental costs related to a potential or completed business combination transaction are expensed as incurred. Such costs are predominately
comprised of severance, retention bonuses payable to employees of an acquired enterprise, temporary employees to assist with the integration of the acquired
operations, fees paid for services (such as consulting, accounting, legal, or engineering reviews), and any other costs directly associated with the transaction.
These business combination costs are included in "Acquisition and integration costs" on the Company's consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive income (loss). For those transactions accounted for as asset acquisitions, these costs are capitalized as part of the purchase price.

Stock-based Compensation Expense, Net

Restricted Stock Units. The Company records stock-based compensation expense for unvested restricted stock units ("RSUs") for which the requisite
service is expected to be rendered. The cumulative effect of a change in the estimated number of RSUs for which the requisite service is expected to be or has
been rendered is recognized in the period of the change in the estimate. To the extent that the requisite service is rendered, compensation cost for accounting
purposes is not reversed; rather, it is recognized regardless of whether or not the awards vest. A discussion of the Company's valuation techniques and related
assumptions and estimates used to measure the Company's stock-based compensation expense is as follows:

Valuation. The fair value of RSUs without market conditions is determined based on the number of shares relating to such RSUs and the quoted price of
the Company's common stock at the date of grant. The Company estimates the fair value of RSUs with market conditions granted using a Monte Carlo
simulation. The Company's determination of the fair value of RSUs with market conditions on the date of grant is affected by its common stock price as well as
assumptions regarding a number of highly complex or subjective variables. The determination of fair value using a Monte Carlo simulation requires the input
of subjective assumptions, and other reasonable assumptions could provide differing results.

Amortization Method. The Company amortizes the fair value of all RSUs on a straight-line basis for each separately vesting tranche of the award (graded
vesting schedule) over the requisite service periods.

Expected Volatility. The Company estimates the volatility of its common stock at the date of grant based on the historical volatility of its common stock.

Expected Dividend Rate. The expected dividend rate at the date of grant is based on the then-current dividend yield.
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Risk-Free Rate. The Company bases the risk-free rate on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury issues with an equivalent remaining term
equal to the expected life of the award.

Forfeitures. The Company uses historical award forfeiture data and management's judgment about the future employee turnover rates to estimate the
number of shares for which the requisite service period will not be rendered.

Interest Expense and Amortization of Deferred Financing Costs, Net

The components of interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs, net are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Interest expense on debt obligations $ 920 $ 836 $ 685
Amortization of deferred financing costs and adjustments on long-term debt 32 29 26
Capitalized interest (20) (15) (12)
Total $ 932§ 850 $ 699

The Company amortizes deferred financing costs, discounts and premiums over the estimated term of the related borrowing using the effective interest
yield method. Deferred financing costs and discounts are generally presented as a direct reduction to the related debt obligation on the Company's consolidated
balance sheet.

Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations

We classify an asset as held for sale when the following criteria are met: (1) management with proper authority has approved and committed to a plan to
sell, (2) the asset is available for immediate sale, (3) an active program to locate a buyer has commenced at a price that is reasonable in relation to its current
fair value, (4) the sale of the asset is probable (5) transfer of the asset is expected to occur within one year, except in certain circumstances such as extended
regulatory approval, and (6) it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn. Assets classified as held for sale
are recorded at the lower of carrying value or fair value, less costs to sell and are no longer depreciated.

Further, we classify the balances and results related to a disposal in discontinued operations if all of the following criteria are met: (1) the operations and
cash flows of the disposal group can be clearly distinguished from the rest of the company, (2) the disposal group meets the criteria to be classified as held for
sale and (3) the disposal represents a strategic shift that has or will have a major effect on our operations and financial results. For businesses classified as
discontinued operations, the associated balances included in the consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive
income (loss) are reclassified from their historical presentation to assets and liabilities of discontinued operations on the consolidated balance sheet and to
discontinued operations on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss), respectively, for all periods presented. The gains or
losses associated with the discontinued operation are also recorded in discontinued operations on the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive
income (loss).

Income Taxes

The Company operates as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes. As a REIT, the Company is generally entitled to a deduction for dividends that it
pays and therefore is not subject to U.S. federal corporate income tax on its net taxable income that is currently distributed to its stockholders. The Company
may be subject to certain federal, state, local and foreign taxes on its income, including (1) taxes on any undistributed income and (2) taxes related to the TRSs.
In addition, the Company could, under certain circumstances, be required to pay an excise or penalty tax, which could be significant in amount, in order to
utilize one or more relief provisions under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended ("Code"), to maintain qualification for taxation as a REIT.

Additionally, the Company has included in TRSs certain other assets and operations. Those TRS assets and operations will continue to be subject, as
applicable, to federal and state corporate income taxes or to foreign taxes in the jurisdictions in which such assets and operations are located. The Company's
foreign assets and operations (including its tower operations in Puerto Rico) are subject to foreign income taxes in the jurisdictions in which such assets and
operations are located, regardless of whether they are included in a TRS or not. For certain acquisitions by the REIT, the Company will be subject to a federal
corporate level tax rate (currently 21%) on any gain recognized from the sale of assets occurring within a specified period (generally 5 years) after the transfer
date up to the amount of the built in gain that existed on the transfer date, which is based upon the fair market value of those assets in excess of the Company's
tax basis on the transfer date. This gain can be offset by any remaining federal net operating loss carryforwards ("NOLs").
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For the Company's TRSs, the Company accounts for income taxes using an asset and liability approach, which requires the recognition of deferred
income tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the Company's financial statements or tax
returns. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based on the temporary differences between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and
liabilities using enacted tax rates. A valuation allowance is provided on deferred tax assets if it is determined that it is "more likely than not" that the asset will
not be realized. The Company records a valuation allowance against deferred tax assets when it is "more likely than not" that some portion or all of the deferred
tax asset will not be realized. The Company reviews the recoverability of deferred tax assets each quarter and based upon projections of future taxable income,
reversing deferred tax liabilities or other known events that are expected to affect future taxable income, records a valuation allowance for assets that do not
meet the "more likely than not" realization threshold. Valuation allowances may be reversed if related deferred tax assets are deemed realizable based upon
changes in facts and circumstances that impact the recoverability of the asset.

The Company recognizes a tax position if it is "more likely than not" that it will be sustained upon examination. The tax position is measured at the
largest amount that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The Company reports penalties and tax-related interest expense
as a component of the benefit (provision) for income taxes. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company has not recorded any material penalties related to
its income tax positions. See note 9.

Per Share Information

Basic net income (loss), per common share, excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding during the period. For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, diluted net income (loss), per common share, is computed by
dividing net income (loss) by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period, plus any potential dilutive common share
equivalents, including shares issuable upon the vesting of RSUs as determined under the treasury stock method.

A reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of the basic and diluted per share computations is shown in the table below.

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022

Net income (loss) $ (3,903) $ 1,502 § 1,675
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding (in millions):

Basic weighted-average number of common stock outstanding 434 434 433

Effect of assumed dilution from potential issuance of common shares relating to RSUs — — 1

Diluted weighted-average number of common shares outstanding 434 434 434
Net income (loss), per common share:

Basic $ (8.98) $ 346 § 3.87

Diluted $ (8.98) $ 346 S 3.86
Dividends/distributions declared per share of common stock $ 626 § 626 $ 5.98

Fair Values

The Company's assets and liabilities recorded at fair value are categorized based upon a fair value hierarchy that ranks the quality and reliability of the
information used to determine fair value. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are (1) Level 1 — quoted prices (unadjusted) in active and accessible
markets, (2) Level 2 — observable prices that are based on inputs not quoted in active markets but corroborated by market data, and (3) Level 3 —
unobservable inputs and are not corroborated by market data. The Company evaluates fair value hierarchy level classifications quarterly, and transfers between
levels are effective at the end of the quarterly period.
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The fair values of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents approximate the carrying values. The Company determines the fair
value of its debt securities based on indicative, non-binding quotes from brokers. Quotes from brokers require judgment and are based on the brokers'
interpretation of market information, including implied credit spreads for similar borrowings on recent trades or bid/ask prices or quotes from active markets if
available. There were no changes since December 31, 2023 in the Company's valuation techniques used to measure fair values. See note 8 for a further
discussion of fair values.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued new guidance, which became effective starting with the Company's 2024
Form 10-K, that is designed to improve reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosure of significant segment expenses.
The Company adopted the guidance as of the effective date (i.e. for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2023). The new guidance also expands interim
segment disclosure requirements and requires disclosure of the position and title of the Company's chief operating decision-maker. The Company adopted the
new segment guidance using a retrospective approach for each prior reporting period presented. The adoption of the new guidance did not have a material
impact on the Company's consolidated financial statement but resulted in expanded disclosure, primarily within its segment reporting footnote. See note 14 to
the Company's consolidated financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In December 2023, the FASB issued new guidance that enhances the transparency and decision usefulness of income tax disclosures, primarily through
changes to the rate reconciliation and income taxes paid disclosures. The guidance will be effective for the Company's fiscal year ending December 31, 2025,
and can be applied prospectively or retrospectively, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of the guidance, including
the impact on its financial statement disclosures.

In November 2024, the FASB issued new guidance which requires disclosure of disaggregated information about certain income statement expense line
items in the notes to the financial statements for both annual and interim periods. The guidance will be effective for the Company's fiscal year ending
December 31, 2027, and can be applied prospectively or retrospectively, with early adoption permitted. The Company is currently evaluating the effect of the
guidance, including the impact on its financial statement disclosures.

3. Revenues

The following table is a summary of the contracted amounts owed to the Company by tenants pursuant to tenant contracts in effect as of December 31,
2024. As of December 31, 2024, the weighted-average remaining term of tenant contracts was approximately six years, exclusive of renewals exercisable at the
tenant's option.

Years Ending December 31,
2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter Total

Contracted amounts® $ 5,056 $ 4,882 § 4,733 $ 4,474 $ 3,661 $ 13,126  $ 35,932

(a) Based on the nature of the contract, tenant contracts are accounted for pursuant to relevant lease accounting (ASC 842) or revenue accounting (ASC 606) guidance. Excludes amounts related to
services, as those contracts generally have a duration of one year or less.

See notes 2 and 13 for further discussion regarding the Company's lessor arrangements and note 14 for further information regarding the Company's
operating segments.
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4. Property and Equipment
The major classes of property and equipment are summarized in the table below.

As of December 31,

Estimated Useful Lives 2024 2023
Land® — $ 2,537 § 2,44
Buildings 40 years 213 20¢
Communications infrastructure assets 1-20 years 26,519 25,47¢
Information technology assets and other 2-7 years 725 68
Construction in process — 1,045 1,13«
Total gross property and equipment 31,039 29,94:
Less: accumulated depreciation (15,544) (14,27¢
Total property and equipment, net $ 15495 § 15,66¢

(a) Includes land owned through fee interests and perpetual easements.

For each of the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, depreciation expense was $1.3 billion, while depreciation expense for the year
ended December 31, 2022 was $1.2 billion.

22% of the Company's towers are leased or subleased or operated and managed under a master lease or other related agreements with AT&T for a
weighted-average initial term of approximately 28 years, weighted based on towers site rental gross margin. The Company has the option to purchase the leased
and subleased towers from AT&T at the end of the respective lease or sublease terms for aggregate option payments of approximately $4.2 billion, which
payments, if such option is exercised, would be due between 2032 and 2048.

32% of the Company's towers are leased or subleased or operated and managed under master leases, subleases, or other agreements with T-Mobile
(including those which T-Mobile assumed in its merger with Sprint). Approximately half of such towers have an initial term of 32 years (through May 2037),
and the Company has the option to purchase in 2037 all (but not less than all) of such leased and subleased towers from T-Mobile for approximately $2.3
billion. The remainder of such towers have a weighted-average initial term of approximately 28 years, weighted based on towers site rental gross margin, and
the Company has the option to purchase such towers from T-Mobile at the end of the respective terms for aggregate option payments of approximately $2.0
billion, which payments, if such option is exercised, would be due between 2035 and 2049. In addition, another 1% of the Company's towers under master
leases, subleases, or other agreements with T-Mobile are subject to a lease and sublease or other related arrangements with AT&T. The Company has the option
to purchase these towers from AT&T at the end of their respective lease terms for aggregate option payments of up to approximately $385 million as of
December 31, 2024, which payments, if such option is exercised, would be due prior to 2032 (less than $12 million would be due before 2029).

See note 13 for further discussion of finance leases recorded as "Property and equipment, net" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.
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5.  Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Goodwill

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded an impairment charge of approximately $5.0 billion related to the goodwill associated with
its Fiber segment, which represents a reporting unit for purposes of evaluating goodwill, which resulted in no goodwill remaining for the Fiber reporting unit.

Management performed its annual goodwill impairment test in the fourth quarter of 2024. The means of estimating the fair value of the Company’s
reporting units is using discounted cash flow ("DCF") models developed by management. Key assumptions and estimates used in the DCF models included
projected future revenues, operating cash flows, capital expenditures (net of certain payments received from customers), an exit multiple and a discount rate.
With respect to the Towers reporting unit, there was no indication of impairment following the quantitative assessment, as the estimated fair value was well in
excess of the corresponding carrying amount.

The quantitative impairment test indicated that the carrying amount of the Company's Fiber reporting unit exceeded its estimated fair value. The
impairment was due to a number of factors, one of which was a reduction in management’s assumptions for long-term revenue growth as actual demand,
particularly related to small cells, has continued to be lower than previous expectations. In the face of this reduced demand, and consistent with the recently
concluded operating review of the Fiber business, management implemented operational and strategic changes targeted at reducing future capital investment in
the Fiber business by focusing primarily on colocation opportunities which require less capital expenditures than new-build opportunities. Although this more
targeted strategy is focused on higher-return projects, the lower capital investment is expected to result in lower overall revenues and operating cash flows in
the Fiber business. Following implementation of these changes, and consistent with the ongoing developments surrounding the Company's strategic review of
its Fiber business, during the fourth quarter of 2024, management incorporated the anticipated impact of these changes in expectations into its long-term
forecasts, which decreased the estimated fair value of the Fiber reporting unit. Additionally, management’s expectations regarding the terminal value of the
projections decreased due to several factors, including lower operating cash flows forecasted by management in the terminal year as well as lower exit
multiples derived from industry research firms' outlook reports, which management uses in its DCF models. Finally, changes in the macroeconomic
environment, including elevated interest rates, resulted in an increase in the discount rate used in the valuation model, which had a negative impact on
estimated fair value.

The impairment charges for the Fiber reporting unit are recorded in "Goodwill impairment charges" on the Company's consolidated statement of
operations and comprehensive income (loss).

The change in the carrying value of goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 is as follows:

Towers Fiber Total

Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 5127 $ 4958 $ 10,085
Impairment — (4,958) (4,958)
Balance as of December 31, 2024 $ 5,127 $ — § 5,127

Intangible Assets

The following is a summary of the Company's intangible assets.

As of December 31, 2024 As of December 31, 2023
Gross Carrying Accumulated Gross Carrying Accumulated
Value Amortization Net Book Value Value Amortization Net Book Value

Site rental contracts and tenant relationships $ 7,879 $ (5,152) $ 2,727 $ 7,880 $ (4,758) $ 3,122
Other intangible assets 113 (59) 54 113 (56) 57
Total $ 7,992 $ (5,211) $ 2,781 $ 7,993 §$ 4,814) $ 3,179
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Amortization expense related to intangible assets is classified as "Depreciation, amortization and accretion" on the Company's consolidated statement of
operations and comprehensive income (loss) and was $397 million, $447 million, and $446 million for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

The estimated annual amortization expense related to intangible assets for the years ending December 31, 2025 to 2029 is as follows:

Years Ending December 31,
2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
Estimated annual amortization $ 375 $ 371 $§ 288 $ 284 $ 284

6.  Other Liabilities
Other long-term liabilities

The following is a summary of the components of "Other long-term liabilities" as presented on the Company's consolidated balance sheet. See also note 2.

As of December 31,
2024 2023
Deferred rental revenues $ 1,356 $ 1,310
Deferred credits, net 174 216
Asset retirement obligation 395 355
Deferred income tax liabilities 31 26
Other long-term liabilities 29 7
Total $ 1,985 § 1,914

Pursuant to its ground lease, leased facility, and certain pole attachment agreements, the Company has the obligation to perform certain asset retirement
activities, including requirements upon contract termination to remove communications infrastructure or remediate the space on which its communications
infrastructure is located. The changes in the carrying amount of the Company's asset retirement obligations were as follows:

Years Ending December 31,

2024 2023
Balance, January 1 $ 355§ 327
Additions 14 6
Accretion expense 27 24
Settlements 1) 2)
Balance, December 31 $ 395 § 355

As of December 31, 2024, the estimated undiscounted future cash outlay for asset retirement obligations was approximately $1.2 billion. See note 2.

For the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company recognized $42 million, $45 million and $49 million, respectively, in "Site rental
revenues” related to the amortization of below-market tenant leases. The estimated annual amounts related to below-market tenant leases expected to be
amortized into site rental revenues for the years ending December 31, 2025 to 2029 are as follows:

Years Ending December 31,
2025 2026 2027 2028 2029

Below-market tenant leases $ 34§ 25 $ 20 $ 18 $ 16
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Other accrued liabilities

Other accrued liabilities included accrued payroll and other accrued compensation of $148 million and $140 million as of December 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively.

7.  Debt and Other Obligations
The table below sets forth the Company's debt and other obligations as of December 31, 2024.

Stated Interest Rate

Contractual Outstanding Balance as of December 31, Decezllrsllgefr 31,
Original Issue Date Maturity Date 2024 2023 2024 @
Secured Notes, Series 2009-1, Class A-2 July 2009 Aug. 2029 32 40 9.0 %
Tower Revenue Notes, Series 2015-2 May 2015 May 2045 ® 700 698 3.7 %
Tower Revenue Notes, Series 2018-2 July 2018 July 2048 ©; 747 746 42 %
Installment purchase liabilities and finance leases Various S Various © 209 @ 270 @ Various ©
Total secured debt 1,778 1,754
2016 Revolver Jan. 2016 July 2027 — © 670 NA @
2016 Term Loan A Jan. 2016 July 2027 1,117 1,162 56% ©
Commercial Paper Notes Various ® Various ® 1,341 — 5.0 %
3.200% Senior Notes Aug. 2017 Sept. 2024 — © 749 N/A
1.350% Senior Notes June 2020 July 2025 499 498 1.4 %
4.450% Senior Notes Feb. 2016 Feb. 2026 899 898 45 %
3.700% Senior Notes May 2016 June 2026 749 748 3.7 %
1.050% Senior Notes Feb. 2021 July 2026 997 994 1.1 %
4.000% Senior Notes Feb. 2017 Mar. 2027 498 498 4.0 %
2.900% Senior Notes Mar. 2022 Mar. 2027 746 744 2.9 %
3.650% Senior Notes Aug. 2017 Sept. 2027 997 997 3.7 %
5.000% Senior Notes Jan. 2023 Jan. 2028 993 991 5.0 %
3.800% Senior Notes Jan. 2018 Feb. 2028 996 995 3.8%
4.800% Senior Notes Apr. 2023 Sept. 2028 595 594 4.8 %
4.300% Senior Notes Feb. 2019 Feb. 2029 596 595 43 %
5.600% Senior Notes Dec. 2023 June 2029 742 740 5.6 %
4.900% Senior Notes Aug. 2024 O Sept. 2029 O 544 — 49 %
3.100% Senior Notes Aug. 2019 Nov. 2029 547 546 3.1 %
3.300% Senior Notes Apr. 2020 July 2030 742 741 33%
2.250% Senior Notes June 2020 Jan. 2031 1,093 1,091 23 %
2.100% Senior Notes Feb. 2021 Apr. 2031 991 990 21 %
2.500% Senior Notes June 2021 July 2031 744 743 2.5 %
5.100% Senior Notes Apr. 2023 May 2033 743 743 51 %
5.800% Senior Notes Dec. 2023 Mar. 2034 742 740 5.8%
5.200% Senior Notes Aug. 2024 O Sept. 2034 O 689 — 52 %
2.900% Senior Notes Feb. 2021 Apr. 2041 1,235 1,234 2.9 %
4.750% Senior Notes May 2017 May 2047 345 344 48 %
5.200% Senior Notes Feb. 2019 Feb. 2049 396 396 52 %
4.000% Senior Notes Aug. 2019 Nov. 2049 346 346 4.0 %
4.150% Senior Notes Apr. 2020 July 2050 490 490 42 %
3.250% Senior Notes June 2020 Jan. 2051 891 890 33%
Total unsecured debt 22,303 21,167
Total debt and other obligations 24,081 22921
Less: current maturities of debt and other obligations 610 835
Non-current portion of debt and other long-term obligations $ 23,471 $ 22,086

(a) Represents the weighted-average stated interest rate, as applicable.

(b) If the Tower Revenue Notes, Series 2015-2 and Series 2018-2 (collectively, "Tower Revenue Notes") are not paid in full on or prior to an applicable anticipated repayment date, then Excess Cash
Flow (as defined in the indenture governing the terms of such notes) of the issuers of such notes will be used to repay principal of the applicable series and class of the Tower Revenue Notes, and
additional interest (of an additional approximately 5% per annum) will accrue on the respective Tower Revenue Notes. As of December 31, 2024, the Tower Revenue Notes, Series 2015-2 and
2018-2 have principal amounts of $700 million and $750 million, with anticipated repayment dates in 2025 and 2028, respectively.

(¢) The Company's installment purchases primarily relate to land and bear interest rates up to 8% and mature in periods ranging from less than one year to approximately 20 years.
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(d) For the years ended December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, reflects $35 million and $18 million, respectively, in finance lease obligations (primarily related to vehicles).

(e) Asof December 31, 2024, the undrawn availability under the senior unsecured revolving credit facility ("2016 Revolver") was $7.0 billion.

(f) Both the 2016 Revolver and senior unsecured term loan A facility ("2016 Term Loan A" and, collectively, "2016 Credit Facility") bear interest, at the Company's option, at either (1) Term SOFR
plus (i) a credit spread adjustment of 0.10% per annum and (ii) a credit spread ranging from 0.875% to 1.750% per annum or (2) an alternate base rate plus a credit spread ranging from 0.000%
to 0.750% per annum, in each case, with the applicable credit spread based on the Company's senior unsecured debt rating. The Company pays a commitment fee ranging from 0.080% to
0.300%, based on the Company's senior unsecured debt rating, per annum on the undrawn available amount under the 2016 Revolver. See further discussion below regarding potential
adjustments to such percentages.

(g) The maturities of the Commercial Paper Notes, as defined below, when outstanding, may vary but may not exceed 397 days from the date of issue. There were no Commercial Paper Notes issued

or outstanding during the period that had original maturities greater than three months.
(h) In September 2024, the Company repaid in full the 3.200% senior unsecured notes on the contractual maturity date.
(i) See "Bonds—Senior Notes" below for further discussion of senior unsecured notes issued during 2024.

The credit agreement governing the Company's 2016 Credit Facility ("2016 Credit Agreement") contains financial maintenance covenants. The Company
is currently in compliance with these financial maintenance covenants. In addition, certain of the Company's debt agreements also contain restrictive covenants
that place restrictions on CCI or its subsidiaries and may limit the Company's ability to, among other things, incur additional debt and liens, purchase the
Company's securities, make capital expenditures, dispose of assets, undertake transactions with affiliates, make other investments, pay dividends or distribute
excess cash flow.

Bank Debt

2016 Credit Facility. In January 2016, the Company established the 2016 Credit Facility, which was originally comprised of (1) a $2.5 billion 2016
Revolver maturing in January 2021, (2) a $2.0 billion 2016 Term Loan A maturing in January 2021 and (3) a $1.0 billion senior unsecured 364-day revolving
credit facility ("364-Day Facility") maturing in January 2017. The Company used the net proceeds from the 2016 Credit Facility (1) to repay the then
outstanding senior credit facility originally established in January 2012 and (2) for general corporate purposes. In February 2016, the Company used a portion
of the net proceeds from the February 2016 issuance of $1.5 billion aggregate principal amount of senior unsecured notes offering to repay in full all
outstanding borrowings under the then outstanding 364-Day Facility.

In February 2017, the Company entered into an amendment to the 2016 Credit Facility to (1) incur additional term loans in an aggregate principal amount
of $500 million and (2) extend the maturity of both the 2016 Term Loan A and the 2016 Revolver to January 2022.

In August 2017, the Company entered into an amendment to the 2016 Credit Facility to (1) increase commitments on the 2016 Revolver to $3.5 billion,
and (2) extend the maturity of the 2016 Credit Facility to August 2022.

In June 2018, the Company entered into an amendment to the 2016 Credit Facility to (1) increase commitments on the 2016 Revolver to $4.25 billion, and
(2) extend the maturity of the 2016 Credit Facility to June 2023.

In June 2019, the Company entered into an amendment to the 2016 Credit Facility to (1) increase commitments on the 2016 Revolver to $5.0 billion, and
(2) extend the maturity of the 2016 Credit Facility to June 2024.

In June 2021, the Company entered into an amendment to the 2016 Credit Agreement that provided for, among other things, (1) the extension of the
maturity date of the 2016 Credit Facility to June 2026, (2) reductions to the interest rate spread ("Spread") and unused commitment fee ("Commitment Fee")
percentage upon meeting specified annual sustainability targets ("Targets") and increases to the Spread and Commitment Fee percentage upon the failure to
meet specified annual sustainability thresholds ("Thresholds") and (3) the inclusion of "hardwired" LIBOR transition provisions consistent with those published
by the Alternative Reference Rate Committee. The Spread and Commitment Fee are subject to an upward adjustment of up to 0.05% and 0.01%, respectively, if
the Company fails to achieve the Thresholds. The Spread and Commitment Fee are subject to a downward adjustment of up to 0.05% and 0.01%, respectively,
if the Company achieves the Targets. In January of the years 2022 through 2025, the Company submitted the required documentation and received confirmation
from its administrative agent that all Targets were met as of the respective prior fiscal year ends, and, as such, the Spread and Commitment Fee percentage
reductions were applied in January 2022 and maintained for 2023, 2024 and 2025.

In July 2022, the Company entered into an amendment to the 2016 Credit Agreement that provided for, among other things, (1) the extension of the
maturity date of the 2016 Credit Facility to July 2027, (2) an increase to the commitments on the 2016 Revolver to $7.0 billion, (3) certain modifications to the
specified sustainability metric and (4) the replacement of the LIBOR pricing benchmark with a Term SOFR pricing benchmark.
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Commercial Paper Program. In April 2019, the Company established a commercial paper program ("CP Program"), pursuant to which the Company may
issue short-term, unsecured commercial paper notes ("Commercial Paper Notes"). Commercial Paper Notes may be issued, repaid and re-issued from time to
time, with an aggregate principal amount of Commercial Paper Notes outstanding under the CP Program at any time originally not to exceed $1.0 billion. The
net proceeds of the Commercial Paper Notes are expected to be used for general corporate purposes. The maturities of the Commercial Paper Notes, when
outstanding, may vary but may not exceed 397 days from the date of issue. There were no Commercial Paper Notes issued or outstanding during the period that
had original maturities greater than three months. The Commercial Paper Notes are issued under customary terms in the commercial paper market and are
issued at a discount from par or, alternatively, can be issued at par and bear varying interest rates on a fixed or floating basis. At any point in time, the Company
intends to maintain available commitments under its 2016 Revolver in an amount at least equal to the amount of Commercial Paper Notes outstanding. While
any outstanding commercial paper issuances generally have short-term maturities, the Company classifies the outstanding issuances as long-term based on its
ability and intent to refinance the outstanding issuances on a long-term basis.

In March 2022, the Company increased the size of the CP Program to permit the issuance of Commercial Paper Notes in an aggregate principal amount
not to exceed $2.0 billion at any time outstanding. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had net issuances of $1.3 billion under the CP Program.

Securitized Debt

The Tower Revenue Notes and the Secured Notes, Series 2009-1, Class A-2 ("2009 Securitized Notes") (collectively, "Securitized Debt") are obligations
of special purpose entities and their direct and indirect subsidiaries (each an "issuer"), all of which are wholly-owned, indirect subsidiaries of CCI. The Tower
Revenue Notes and 2009 Securitized Notes are governed by separate indentures. The 2015 Tower Revenue Notes and 2018 Tower Revenue Notes (each as
defined below) are governed by one indenture and consist of multiple series of notes, each with its own anticipated repayment date.

In May 2015, the Company issued $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of Senior Secured Tower Revenue Notes ("2015 Tower Revenue Notes"),
which were issued pursuant to the existing indenture and have similar terms and security as the Company's then outstanding Tower Revenue Notes. The 2015
Tower Revenue Notes originally consisted of (1) $300 million aggregate principal amount of 3.222% senior secured tower revenue notes with an anticipated
repayment date of May 2022 and a final maturity date of May 2042 ("Series 2015-1 Notes") and (2) $700 million aggregate principal amount of 3.663% senior
secured tower revenue notes with an anticipated repayment date of May 2025 and a final maturity date of May 2045 ("Series 2015-2 Notes"). The Company
primarily used the net proceeds of the 2015 Tower Revenue Notes, together with proceeds received from the Company's sale of the formerly 77.6% owned
subsidiary that operated towers in Australia ("CCAL"), to (1) repay $250 million aggregate principal amount of previously outstanding August 2010 Tower
Revenue Notes, (2) repay all of the then outstanding WCP Secured Wireless Site Contracts Revenue Notes, Series 2010-1 ("WCP Securitized Notes"), (3)
repay portions of outstanding borrowings under the 2012 Credit Facility and (4) pay related fees and expenses. In June 2021, the Company used a portion of the
net proceeds from the 2.500% senior unsecured notes offering due July 2031 to repay in whole the Series 2015-1 Notes.

In July 2018, the Company issued $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of Senior Secured Tower Revenue Notes ("2018 Tower Revenue Notes"),
which were issued pursuant to the existing indenture and have similar terms and security as the Company's then outstanding Tower Revenue Notes. The 2018
Tower Revenue Notes originally consisted of (1) $250 million aggregate principal amount of 3.720% senior secured tower revenue notes with an anticipated
repayment date of July 2023 and a final maturity of July 2043 ("Series 2018-1 Notes") and (2) $750 million aggregate principal amount of 4.241% senior
secured tower revenue notes with an anticipated repayment date of July 2028 and a final maturity of July 2048 ("Series 2018-2 Notes"). The Company used the
net proceeds of the 2018 Tower Revenue Notes, together with cash on hand, to repay all of the previously outstanding Tower Revenue Notes, Series 2010-6 and
to pay related fees and expenses. In addition to the 2018 Tower Revenue Notes described above, in connection with Exchange Act risk retention requirements
("Risk Retention Rules"), an indirect subsidiary of the Company issued and a majority-owned affiliate of the Company purchased approximately $53 million of
the Senior Secured Tower Revenue Notes, Series 2018-1, Class R-2028 to retain an eligible horizontal residual interest (as defined in the Risk Retention Rules)
in an amount equal to at least 5% of the fair value of the 2018 Tower Revenue Notes. In March 2022, the Company prepaid the Series 2018-1 Notes.

The Securitized Debt is paid solely from the cash flows generated by the operation of the towers held directly and indirectly by the issuers of the
respective Securitized Debt. The Securitized Debt is secured by, among other things, (1) a security interest in substantially all of the applicable issuers'
assignable personal property, (2) a pledge of the equity interests in each applicable issuer and (3) a security interest in the applicable issuers' leases with tenants
to lease tower space (space
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licenses). The governing instruments of two indirect subsidiaries ("Crown Atlantic" and "Crown GT") of the issuers of the Tower Revenue Notes generally
prevent them from issuing debt and granting liens on their assets without the approval of a subsidiary of Verizon Communications. Consequently, while
distributions paid by Crown Atlantic and Crown GT will service the Tower Revenue Notes, the Tower Revenue Notes are not obligations of, nor are the Tower
Revenue Notes secured by the cash flows or any other assets of, Crown Atlantic and Crown GT. As of December 31, 2024, the Securitized Debt was
collateralized with personal property and equipment with an aggregate net book value of approximately $667 million, exclusive of Crown Atlantic and Crown
GT personal property and equipment.

The excess cash flows from the issuers of the Securitized Debt, after the payment of principal, interest, reserves, expenses and management fees, are
distributed to the Company in accordance with the terms of the indentures. If the Debt Service Coverage Ratio ("DSCR") (as defined in the applicable
governing loan agreement) as of the end of any calendar quarter falls to a certain level, then all excess cash flow of the issuers of the applicable debt instrument
will be deposited into a reserve account instead of being released to the Company. The funds in the reserve account will not be released to the Company until
the DSCR exceeds a certain level for two consecutive calendar quarters. If the DSCR falls below a certain level as of the end of any calendar quarter, then all
cash on deposit in the reserve account along with future excess cash flows of the issuers will be applied to prepay the debt with applicable prepayment
consideration.

The Company may repay the Securitized Debt in whole or in part at any time, provided in each case that such prepayment is accompanied by any
applicable prepayment consideration. The Securitized Debt has covenants and restrictions customary for rated securitizations, including provisions prohibiting
the issuers from incurring additional indebtedness or further encumbering their assets. The Company is currently in compliance with these financial
maintenance covenants.

Bonds—Senior Notes

In August 2024, the Company issued $550 million aggregate principal amount of 4.900% senior unsecured notes due 2029 and $700 million aggregate
principal amount of 5.200% senior unsecured notes due 2034 (collectively, "August 2024 Senior Notes"). The Company used the net proceeds from the August
2024 Senior Notes offering to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under the CP Program and pay related fees and expenses.

In December 2023, the Company issued $750 million aggregate principal amount of 5.600% senior unsecured notes due June 2029 and $750 million
aggregate principal amount of 5.800% senior unsecured notes due March 2034 (collectively, "December 2023 Senior Notes"). The Company used the net
proceeds from the December 2023 Senior Notes offering to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under its commercial paper program and pay
related fees and expenses.

In April 2023, the Company issued $600 million aggregate principal amount of 4.800% senior unsecured notes due September 2028 and $750 million
aggregate principal amount of 5.100% senior unsecured notes due May 2033 (collectively, "April 2023 Senior Notes"). The Company used the net proceeds
from the April 2023 Senior Notes offering to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under the 2016 Revolver and pay related fees and expenses.

In January 2023, the Company issued $1.0 billion aggregate principal amount of 5.000% senior unsecured notes due January 2028 ("January 2023 Senior
Notes"). The Company used the net proceeds from the January 2023 Senior Notes offering to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under the 2016
Revolver and pay related fees and expenses.

In March 2022, the Company issued $750 million aggregate principal amount of 2.900% senior unsecured notes due March 2027 ("March 2022 Senior
Notes"). The Company used the net proceeds from the March 2022 Senior Notes offering to repay a portion of the outstanding indebtedness under the CP
Program and pay related fees and expenses.

Each of the outstanding senior notes listed in the table above (collectively, "Senior Notes") are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and rank
equally with all of the Company's existing and future senior unsecured indebtedness, including obligations under the 2016 Credit Facility, and senior to all of
the Company's future subordinated indebtedness. The Senior Notes are structurally subordinated to all existing and future liabilities and obligations of the
Company's subsidiaries. The Company's subsidiaries are not guarantors of the Senior Notes.

The Company may redeem any of the Senior Notes in whole or in part at any time at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount to be redeemed, plus a
make whole premium, if applicable, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the date of redemption.
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Previously Outstanding Indebtedness
Bonds—Senior Notes. In September 2024, the Company repaid in full the previously outstanding 3.200% senior unsecured notes due September 2024.
Scheduled Principal Payments and Final Maturities

The following are the scheduled principal payments and final maturities of the total debt and other long-term obligations of the Company outstanding as
of December 31, 2024, which do not consider the principal payments that will commence following the anticipated repayment dates on the Tower Revenue
Notes. If the Tower Revenue Notes are not paid in full on or prior to their respective anticipated repayment dates, as applicable, then the Excess Cash Flow (as
defined in the indenture) of the issuers of such notes will be used to repay principal of the applicable series and class of the Tower Revenue Notes and
additional interest (of an additional approximately 5% per annum) will accrue on the Tower Revenue Notes.

i Total Debt and
Years Ending December 31, Total Cash Unamortized Other Obligations
2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter Obligations Adjustments, Net Outstanding
Scheduled principal payments
and
final maturities $ 1,951 @ $ 2,787 $ 3258 § 2,635 $ 2,478 $ 11,130 § 24239 $ (158) § 24,081

(a) Predominately consists of outstanding indebtedness under the CP Program and the 1.350% senior unsecured notes due July 2025.
Purchases and Redemptions of Long-Term Debt

The following is a summary of the purchases, payments and redemptions of long-term debt during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Principal Amount Cash Paid® Gains (losses)®
Year Ended December 31, 2024
3.200% Senior Unsecured Notes 750 750 —
Total $ 750 $ 750 $ —
Year Ended December 31, 2023
3.150% Senior Unsecured Notes 750 750 S
Total $ 750 $ 750 $ —
Year Ended December 31, 2022
Tower Revenue Notes, Series 2018-1 $ 250 $ 252 $ 3)
3.849% Secured Notes 1,000 1,022 (23)
2016 Revolver — — ?2)
Total $ 1,250 § 1,274 § (28)

(a) Exclusive of accrued interest.
(b) Inclusive of the write-off of the respective deferred financing costs.

8.  Fair Value Disclosures

The following table shows the estimated fair values of the Company's financial instruments, along with the carrying amounts of the related assets
(liabilities). See also note 2.

. . December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Level in Fair Value
Hierarchy Carrying Amount Fair Value Carrying Amount Fair Value

Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 1 $ 119 $ 119 $ 105§ 105

Restricted cash and cash equivalents, current and 1

non-current 176 176 176 176
Liabilities:

Total debt and other obligations 2 24,081 22,398 22,921 21,201
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9. Income Taxes

Income (loss) before income taxes by geographic area is summarized in the table below.

Domestic
Foreign®
Total

(a) Inclusive of income (loss) before income taxes from Puerto Rico.

The benefit (provision) for income taxes consists of the following:

Current:
Federal
Foreign
State

Total current

Deferred:
Federal
Foreign

Total deferred

Total tax benefit (provision)

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
$ (3,904) $ 1,499 §$ 1,661
25 29 30
$ (3,879) $ 1,528  $ 1,691
Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
$ ® 3 7 3 6)
(6 © (©)]
(&) @ 2
(20) (18) (13)
1 — _
(©) ® 3
“ ® 3
$ 24) $ (26) $ (16)

A reconciliation between the benefit (provision) for income taxes and the amount computed by applying the federal statutory income tax rate to the

income (loss) before income taxes is as follows:

Benefit (provision) for income taxes at statutory rate
Tax adjustment related to REIT operations
Valuation allowances

State tax (provision) benefit, net of federal

Foreign tax

Total

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022
$ 815 S (321) $ (355)
(822) 313 349
1) — @
(5) 2) 2
(11) (16) (11)
$ (24) $ (26) $ (16)
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The components of the net deferred income tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

December 31,
2024 2023
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Property and equipment $ 11 $ 10
Deferred site rental receivables 7 9
Site rental contracts and tenant relationships, net 29 29
Total deferred income tax liabilities 47 48
Deferred income tax assets:
Other intangible assets, net 29 29
Net operating loss carryforwards® 1 5
Straight-line rent expense liability 5 5
Accrued liabilities 5 5
Other 6 5
Valuation allowances 3) ?2)
Total deferred income tax assets, net 43 47
Net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) $ 4 S 1)

(a) Balance results from the Company's foreign NOLs. Due to the Company's REIT status, no federal or state NOLs result in the Company recording a deferred income tax asset. See further
discussion surrounding the Company's NOL balances below.

The Company operates as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

The components of the net deferred income tax assets (liabilities) are as follows:

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023
Valuation Valuation
Classification Gross Allowance Net Gross Allowance Net
Federal $ 28 % 2 3 26 $ 26 $ a1 s 25
State 1 — 1 1 — 1
Foreign (30) (1) (€20) (26) (€)) 27)
Total $ 1 s 3) $ “4 S 1 $ 2) $ (1)

The Company recorded valuation allowances totaling $3 million and $2 million, as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 respectively, related to certain
deferred tax assets as management believes that it is not "more likely than not" that the Company will realize the assets.

At December 31, 2024, the Company had U.S. federal and state NOLs of approximately $1.5 billion and $0.4 billion, respectively, which are available to
offset future taxable income. These amounts include approximately $237 million of losses related to stock-based compensation. As footnoted above, the
Company’s federal and state NOLs are valued at a tax rate of 0% for deferred income tax purposes due to the Company’s REIT status. As a result, any
expirations of these NOLs will not have any impact on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet or the Consolidated Statement of Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss). The Company also has foreign NOLs of $3 million. If not utilized, the Company's U.S. federal NOLs expire starting in 2025
and ending in 2036, the remaining state NOLs expire starting in 2025 and ending in 2043, and the foreign NOLSs start expiring in 2028 and ending in 2036. The
federal NOLs potentially expiring in 2025 are $128 million, and the state NOLs potentially expiring in 2025 are $52 million. The utilization of the NOLs is
subject to certain limitations. The Company's U.S. federal and state income tax returns generally remain open to examination by taxing authorities until three
years after the applicable NOLs have been used or expired.

As of December 31, 2024, there were no unrecognized tax benefits that would impact the effective tax rate, if recognized.

From time to time, the Company is subject to examinations by various tax authorities in jurisdictions in which the Company has business operations. At
this time, the Company is not subject to an Internal Revenue Service examination.

The Company regularly assesses the likelihood of additional assessments in each of the tax jurisdictions in which it has business operations. The
Company has no uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2024. Additionally, the Company does
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not believe any such additional assessments arising from examinations or audits will have a material effect on the Company's financial statements.

As of December 31, 2024, the Company's deferred tax assets are included in "Other assets, net" and the Company's deferred tax liabilities are included in
"Other long-term liabilities" on the Company's consolidated balance sheet.

10. Equity
2021 "At-the-Market" Stock Offering Program

The Company previously maintained an "at-the-market" stock offering program through which it had the right to issue and sell shares of its common
stock having an aggregate gross sales price of up to $750 million ("2021 ATM Program"). The Company terminated its previously outstanding 2021 ATM
Program in March 2024 with the entire gross sales price of $750 million remaining unsold.

2024 "At-the-Market" Stock Offering Program

In March 2024, the Company established a new "at-the-market" stock offering program through which it may issue and sell shares of its common stock
having an aggregate gross sales price of up to $750 million ("2024 ATM Program"). Sales under the 2024 ATM Program may be made by means of ordinary
brokers' transactions on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") or otherwise at market prices prevailing at the time of sale, at prices related to prevailing
market prices or, subject to the Company's specific instructions, at negotiated prices. The Company intends to use the net proceeds from any sales under the
2024 ATM Program for general corporate purposes, which may include (1) the funding of future acquisitions or investments or (2) the repayment or repurchase
of any outstanding indebtedness. The Company has not sold any shares of common stock under the 2024 ATM Program.

During the year ended December 31, 2024, the following dividends/distributions were declared or paid:

Aggregate
Dividends Per Payment
Equity Type Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date Share Amount®
Common Stock February 21, 2024 March 15, 2024 March 28, 2024 $ 1.565 § 683
Common Stock May 22, 2024 June 14, 2024 June 28, 2024 $ 1.565 $ 684
Common Stock August 7, 2024 September 13, 2024 September 30, 2024 $ 1.565 §$ 683
Common Stock November 6, 2024 December 13, 2024 December 31, 2024 $ 1.565 §$ 682
(a) Inclusive of dividends accrued for holders of unvested RSUs, which will be paid when and if the RSUs vest.
See also note 17 for a discussion of the Company's common stock dividend declared in March 2025.
Tax Treatment of Dividends
The following table summarizes, for income tax purposes, the nature of dividends paid during 2024 on the Company's common stock.
: Non-Taxable
Cash Distribution Ordinary Taxable Dg,lil:gﬁied E?’;;l;l:e) Section 199A Distribution (per
Equity Type Payment Date (per share) Dividend (per share) &P Dividend (per share) share)
Common Stock March 28, 2024 $ 1.565000 $ 0.884582 $ 0.018596 $ 0.865986 $ 0.680418
Common Stock June 28, 2024 $ 1.565000 $ 0.884582 §$ 0.018596 $ 0.865986 $ 0.680418
Common Stock September 30, 2024 $ 1.565000 $ 0.884582 § 0.018596 $ 0.865986 $ 0.680418
Common Stock December 31, 2024 $ 1.565000 $ 0.884582 § 0.018596 $ 0.865986 $ 0.680418

(a) Qualified taxable dividend and section 199A dividend amounts are included in ordinary taxable dividend amounts.
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Purchases of the Company's Common Stock

During the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, the Company purchased 0.3 million, 0.2 million and 0.4 million shares of its common stock,
respectively, utilizing $33 million, $30 million and $65 million in cash, respectively. The shares of common stock purchased relate to shares withheld in
connection with the payment of withholding taxes upon vesting of RSUs.

11. Stock-based Compensation
Stock Compensation Plans

Pursuant to stockholder approved plans, the Company has granted stock-based awards to certain employees, consultants or non-employee directors of the
Company and its subsidiaries or affiliates. Following the stockholder approval of the 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan ("2022 LTIP"), no further awards can be
made under the 2013 Long-Term Incentive Plan ("2013 LTIP"). As of December 31, 2024, the Company had approximately 0.4 million and 0.1 million shares
available for issuance under existing and future awards, respectively, pursuant to the 2013 LTIP and approximately 2.2 million and 11.9 million shares available
for issuance under existing and future awards, respectively, pursuant to the 2022 LTIP.

Restricted Stock Units

The Company issues RSUs to certain executives and employees. Each RSU represents a contingent right to receive one share of the Company's common
stock subject to satisfaction of the applicable vesting terms. The RSUs granted to certain executives and employees include (1) annual awards that contain only
service-based conditions, (2) annual performance awards that vest subject to the achievement of certain stock performance-based metrics (as further described
below), (3) annual performance awards that vest subject to the achievement of the Company's performance related to its average return on invested capital (as
further described below), (4) new hire, promotional or relocation awards that generally contain only service-based vesting conditions and (5) other awards
related to specific business initiatives or compensation objectives including retention and merger integration. Generally, such awards vest over periods of
approximately three years.

The following is a summary of the RSU activity during the year ended December 31, 2024.

RSUs
(In millions)
Outstanding at the beginning of year 3
Granted 1
Vested (1)
Forfeited —
Outstanding at end of year 3

The Company granted approximately 1.4 million RSUs to its executives and certain other employees for the year ended December 31, 2024,
approximately 1.6 million RSUs for the year ended December 31, 2023 and approximately 0.9 million RSUs for the year ended December 31, 2022. The
weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of the grants for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 was $107.98, $126.56 and $146.52 per
share, respectively. The weighted-average requisite service period for the RSUs granted during 2024 was approximately 2.2 years.

Of the approximately 1.4 million RSUs granted during the year ended December 31, 2024, (1) approximately 1.2 million RSUs were granted to the
Company's executive and certain other employees and generally were subject to time-based vesting conditions, vesting over a three-year period (2)
approximately 0.1 million RSUs were granted to the Company's executives and certain other employees and may vest on the third anniversary of the grant date
based upon the Company's total stockholder return compared to that of the companies in the Standard & Poor's 500 Index and (3) approximately 0.1 million
RSUs were granted to the Company's executives and certain other employees and may vest on the third anniversary of the grant date based upon the Company's
average return on invested capital (defined as Adjusted EBITDA (as defined in the Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for 2022 Long-Term Incentive Plan
(effective August 1, 2022)) less cash taxes paid, divided by the Company's historical gross investment in (a) property and equipment (excluding the impact of
construction in process), (b) site rental contracts and tenant relationships and (c) goodwill) over a three-year performance period. Certain RSU agreements
contain provisions that result in forfeiture by the employee of any unvested shares in the event that the Company's common stock does not achieve certain
market performance targets. To the extent that the requisite service is rendered, compensation cost for accounting purposes is not reversed; rather, it is
recognized regardless of whether or not the market performance target is achieved.
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The following table summarizes the assumptions used in the Monte Carlo simulation to determine the grant-date fair value for the RSUs with market
conditions granted during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Risk-free rate 4.4 % 4.5 % 1.7%
Expected volatility 27 % 27 % 31 %
Expected dividend rate 55% 4.6 % 3.0%

The Company recognized aggregate stock-based compensation expense related to RSUs of $111 million, $139 million and $134 million for the years
ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The aggregate unrecognized compensation (net of estimated forfeitures) related to RSUs at
December 31, 2024 is $71 million and is estimated to be recognized over a weighted-average period of less than one year.

The following table is a summary of the RSUs vested during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Total Shares Fair Value on
Years Ended December 31, Vested Vesting Date
(In millions of shares)
2024 1 S 102
2023 1 92
2022 1 187
Stock-based Compensation Expense, Net
The following table discloses the components of stock-based compensation expense, net.
Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Stock-based compensation expense, net:
Site rental costs of operations $ 19 8 19 8 18
Services and other costs of operations 6 10 10
Selling, general and administrative expenses 106 128 128
Total stock-based compensation expense, net $ 131 $ 157 $ 156

12. Commitments and Contingencies
Other Matters

The Company is involved in various claims, assessments, lawsuits or proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. While there are uncertainties
inherent in the ultimate outcome of such matters and it is impossible to presently determine the ultimate costs or losses that may be incurred, if any,
management believes the adverse resolution of such uncertainties and the incurrence of such costs should not have a material adverse effect on the Company's
consolidated financial position or results of operations. The Company and certain of its subsidiaries are also contingently liable for commitments or
performance guarantees arising in the ordinary course of business, including certain letters of credit or surety bonds.

See note 13 for a discussion of operating lease commitments. In addition, as mentioned in note 4, the Company has the option to purchase approximately
54% of its towers at the end of their respective lease terms. The Company has no obligation to exercise such purchase options.

13. Leases
Lessor Tenant Leases

See note 3 for further information regarding the contractual amounts owed to the Company pursuant to tenant contracts in effect as of December 31, 2024
and other information.
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Lessee Operating Leases

The components of the Company's operating lease expense are as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Lease cost:
Operating lease expense® $ 706 $ 708 $ 660
Variable lease expense® 209 205 175
Total lease expense® $ 915§ 913 8 835

(a) Represents the Company's operating lease expense related to its ROU assets.

(b) Represents the Company's expense related to contingent payments for operating leases (such as payments based on revenues derived from the communications infrastructure located on the leased
asset). Such contingencies are recognized as expense in the period they are resolved.

(c) Excludes those direct operating expenses accounted for pursuant to accounting guidance outside the scope of ASC 842.

Lessee Finance Leases

The vast majority of the Company's finance leases are related to the towers subject to prepaid master lease agreements with AT&T and T-Mobile
(including those which T-Mobile assumed in its merger with Sprint), and are recorded as "Property and equipment, net" on the consolidated balance sheet. See
note 4 for further discussion of the Company's prepaid master lease agreements.

The components of the Company's finance leases are as follows:

As of December 31, 2024 As of December 31, 2023
Accumulated Accumulated
Gross Carrying Value Amortization Net Book Value Gross Carrying Value Amortization Net Book Value
Master Prepaid Leases $ 4234 § (3,007) $ 1,227 § 4243 § 2,832) $ 1,411
Finance Leases 86 (48) 38 71 (49) 22
Total $ 4320 § (3,055) $ 1,265 $ 4314 $ (2,881) $ 1,433

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company recorded $191 million to "Depreciation, amortization and accretion" related to finance leases and
recorded $182 million in each of the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

Other Lessee Information

As of December 31, 2024, the Company's weighted-average remaining lease term and weighted-average discount rate for operating leases were 15 years
and 4.9%, respectively.

The following table is a summary of the Company's maturities of operating lease liabilities as of December 31, 2024:

Years Ending December 31,

Total undiscounted Less: Imputed Total operating lease
2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Thereafter lease payments interest liabilities
Operating leases® $ 558§ 551 $ 547 $ 543§ 538 $ 5682 $ 8,419 $ (2,887) $ 5,532

(a) Excludes the Company's contingent payments for operating leases (such as payments based on revenues derived from the communications infrastructure located on the leased asset) as such
arrangements are excluded from the Company's operating lease liability. Such contingencies are recognized as expense in the period they are resolved.

14. Operating Segments and Concentrations of Credit Risk
Reportable Segments

The Company's operating segments, which are also its reportable segments, consist of (1) Towers and (2) Fiber. The Towers segment provides access,
including space or capacity, to the Company's more than 40,000 towers geographically dispersed throughout the U.S. The Towers segment also reflects certain
ancillary services relating to the Company's towers, predominately consisting of site development services and installation services. See note 16 to the
Company's consolidated financial statements for a discussion of the Company's 2023 Restructuring Plan, which included discontinuing installation services as a
Towers product offering and note 17 for a discussion of the sale of the Fiber segment which is expected to close in the first half of 2026. The Fiber segment
provides access, including space or capacity, to the Company's approximately (1)
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105,000 small cells either currently generating revenue or under contract and (2) 90,000 route miles of fiber primarily supporting small cells and fiber solutions
geographically dispersed throughout the U.S.

The Company’s President and Chief Executive Officer functions as the chief operating decision maker ("CODM"). The measurement of profit or loss
primarily used by the CODM to evaluate the performance of the Company's operating segments is segment operating profit (loss). The CODM uses segment
operating profit (loss) to evaluate budget-to-actual variances to assist in deciding whether to (1) reinvest capital into the Company's operating segments by
constructing new assets, acquire new assets or land interests (which primarily relate to land assets under towers), or make improvements and structural
enhancements to our existing infrastructure, (2) return cash generated to stockholders in the form of dividends, (3) purchase shares of our common stock, or (4)
repurchase, repay, or redeem the Company's debt. The CODM also uses segment operating profit (loss) in the evaluation of pricing of new projects and new
tenant agreements. Additionally, the Company CODM reviews segment adjusted site rental gross margin and segment adjusted services and other gross margin.
The CODM uses segment adjusted site rental gross margin and segment adjusted services and other gross margin to (1) evaluate the economic productivity of
the Company's operating segments, (2) identify underlying business trends that are impacting the Company's segment performance, (3) assist in making
resource allocation decisions and (4) aid in the preparation of the annual operating budget for the Company's operating segments.

The Company defines segment operating profit (loss) as segment site rental revenues plus segment services and other revenues, less segment site rental
costs of operations, segment services and other costs of operations, and segment selling, general and administrative expenses, each of which excludes stock-
based compensation, net, and prepaid lease purchase price adjustments, which are recorded in the respective consolidated figures. The Company defines
segment adjusted site rental gross margin as segment site rental revenues less segment site rental costs of operations, excluding stock-based compensation
expense, net and amortization of prepaid lease purchase price adjustments recorded in consolidated site rental costs of operations. The Company defines
segment adjusted services and other gross margin as segment services and other revenues less segment services and other costs of operations, excluding stock-
based compensation expense, net recorded in consolidated services and other costs of operations. All of these measurements are exclusive of depreciation,
amortization and accretion, which are shown separately.

Costs that are directly attributable to Towers and Fiber are assigned to those respective segments. Additionally, certain costs are shared across segments
and are reflected in the Company's segment measures through allocations that management believes to be reasonable. The "Other Non-Segment Items" column,
which does not meet the criteria to be classified as a reportable segment, (1) represents amounts excluded from specific segments, such as restructuring charges
(credits), asset write-down charges, goodwill impairment, acquisition and integration costs, depreciation, amortization and accretion, amortization of prepaid
lease purchase price adjustments, interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs, net, gains (losses) on retirement of long-term obligations,
interest income, other income (expense), stock-based compensation expense, net and certain selling, general and administrative expenses, and (2) reconciles
segment operating profit (loss) to income (loss) before income taxes, as the amounts are not utilized in assessing each segment’s performance. The "Other Non-
Segment Items" total assets balance includes corporate assets such as cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents which have not been
allocated to specific segments. For both the Towers and Fiber segments, other segment costs of operations primarily consists of (1) utilities, (2) property taxes,
(3) third-party costs related to ancillary services performed and (4) various other insignificant expenses. Other segment selling, general and administrative
expenses primarily contains an allocation of corporate facilities expense relating to employees operating for each respective segment and external selling costs
in the Fiber segment. There are no significant revenues resulting from transactions between the Company's operating segments.
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2024 Segment Results and Significant Segment Expenses

Year Ended December 31, 2024
Other Non-Segment

Towers Fiber Items Total
Segment site rental revenues $ 4,266 $ 2,092 $ 6,358
Segment services and other revenues 192 18 210
Segment revenues 4,458 2,110 6,568
Segment site rental costs of operations 959 734 1,693
Segment services and other costs of operations 101 12 113
Segment costs of operations@® 1,060 746 1,806
Segment adjusted site rental gross margin 3,307 1,358 4,665
Segment adjusted services and other gross margin 91 6 97
Segment selling, general and administrative expenses® 76 176 252
Segment operating profit (loss) 3,322 1,188 4,510
Other selling, general and administrative expenses® $ 348 348
Stock-based compensation expense, net 131 131
Depreciation, amortization and accretion 1,738 1,738
Restructuring charges 109 109
Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs, net 932 932
Goodwill impairment 4,958 4,958
Other (income) expenses to reconcile to income (loss) before income taxes® 173 173
Income (loss) before income taxes $ (3,879)
Capital expenditures $ 133§ 1,045 $ 44 $ 1,222
Total assets (at year end) $ 20,814 § 11,283 $ 639 § 32,736
Total goodwill (at year end) $ 5,127 $ — — 5,127
Year Ended December 31, 2024
Other Non-Segment
Towers Fiber Items Total

Segment costs of operations:

Lease expense $ 745§ 369 $ — 3 1,114

Employee compensation expense 90 95 — 185

Repairs and maintenance expense 54 120 — 174

Other segment costs of operations expense 171 162 — 333
Total segment costs of operations®® 1,060 746 — 1,806
Segment selling, general and administrative expenses:

Employee compensation expense 63 102 160 325

Other segment selling, general and administrative expenses 13 74 188 275
Total segment selling, general and administrative expenses® $ 76 $ 176 $ 348 $ 600

(a) Exclusive of depreciation, amortization and accretion shown separately.

(b) Segment costs of operations for the year ended December 31, 2024 excludes (1) stock-based compensation expense, net of $25 million and (2) prepaid lease purchase price adjustments of $16
million. For the year ended December 31, 2024, segment selling, general and administrative expenses and other selling, general and administrative expenses exclude stock-based compensation
expense, net of $106 million.

(c) See consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for further information.
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2023 Segment Results and Significant Segment Expenses

Year Ended December 31, 2023
Other Non-Segment

Towers Fiber Items Total
Segment site rental revenues $ 4,313 $ 2,219 $ 6,532
Segment services and other revenues 421 28 449
Segment revenues 4,734 2,247 6,981
Segment site rental costs of operations 943 686 1,629
Segment services and other costs of operations 294 12 306
Segment costs of operations@® 1,237 698 1,935
Segment adjusted site rental gross margin 3,370 1,533 4,903
Segment adjusted services and other gross margin 127 16 143
Segment selling, general and administrative expenses® 104 194 298
Segment operating profit (loss) 3,393 1,355 4,748
Other selling, general and administrative expenses® $ 333 333
Stock-based compensation expense, net 157 157
Depreciation, amortization and accretion 1,754 1,754
Restructuring charges 85 85
Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs, net 850 850
Other (income) expenses to reconcile to income (loss) before income taxes® 41 41
Income (loss) before income taxes $ 1,528
Capital expenditures $ 194 $ 1,175 $ 55§ 1,424
Total assets (at year end) $ 21,550 $ 16,308 $ 669 $ 38,527
Total goodwill (at year end) $ 5,127 $ 4958 § — 3 10,085
Year Ended December 31, 2023
Other Non-Segment
Towers Fiber Items Total

Segment costs of operations:

Lease expense $ 732§ 347 $ — 1,079

Employee compensation expense 122 98 — 220

Repairs and maintenance expense 58 107 — 165

Other segment costs of operations expense 325 146 — 471
Total segment costs of operations®® 1,237 698 — 1,935
Segment selling, general and administrative expenses:

Employee compensation expense 82 117 171 370

Other segment selling, general and administrative expenses 22 77 162 261
Total segment selling, general and administrative expenses(b’ $ 104 § 194 § 333 $ 631

(a) Exclusive of depreciation, amortization and accretion shown separately.

(b) Segment costs of operations for the year ended December 31, 2023 excludes (1) stock-based compensation expense, net of $29 million and (2) prepaid lease purchase price adjustments of $16
million. For the year ended December 31, 2023, segment selling, general and administrative expenses and other selling, general and administrative expenses exclude stock-based compensation
expense, net of $128 million.

(c) See consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for further information.

90



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)
(Tabular dollars in millions, except per share amounts)

2022 Segment Results and Significant Segment Expenses

Year Ended December 31, 2022
Other Non-Segment

Towers Fiber Items Total
Segment site rental revenues $ 4,322 $ 1,967 $ 6,289
Segment services and other revenues 685 12 697
Segment revenues 5,007 1,979 6,986
Segment site rental costs of operations 918 650 1,568
Segment services and other costs of operations 447 9 456
Segment costs of operations@® 1,365 659 2,024
Segment adjusted site rental gross margin 3,404 1,317 4,721
Segment adjusted services and other gross margin 238 3 241
Segment selling, general and administrative expenses® 115 190 305
Segment operating profit (loss) 3,527 1,130 4,657
Other selling, general and administrative expenses® $ 317 317
Stock-based compensation expense, net 156 156
Depreciation, amortization and accretion 1,707 1,707
Interest expense and amortization of deferred financing costs, net 699 699
Other (income) expenses to reconcile to income (loss) before income taxes® 87 87
Income (loss) before income taxes $ 1,691
Capital expenditures $ 185 $ 1,058 $ 67 $ 1,310
Total assets (at year end) $ 22210 $ 16,010 $ 701 $ 38,921
Total goodwill (at year end) $ 5,127 $ 4,958 $ — $ 10,085
Year Ended December 31, 2022
Other Non-Segment
Towers Fiber Items Total

Segment costs of operations:

Lease expense $ 707 $ 321§ — 3 1,028

Employee compensation expense 159 100 — 259

Repairs and maintenance expense 56 97 — 153

Other segment costs of operations expense 443 141 — 584
Total segment costs of operations®® 1,365 659 — 2,024
Segment selling, general and administrative expenses:

Employee compensation expense 93 118 183 394

Other segment selling, general and administrative expenses 22 72 134 228
Total segment selling, general and administrative expenses® $ 115§ 190 $ 317 $ 622

(a) Exclusive of depreciation, amortization and accretion shown separately.

(b) Segment costs of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022 excludes (1) stock-based compensation expense, net of $28 million and (2) prepaid lease purchase price adjustments of $16
million. For the year ended December 31, 2022, segment selling, general and administrative expenses and other selling, general and administrative expenses exclude stock-based compensation
expense, net of $128 million.

(c) See consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive income (loss) for further information.
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Major Tenants

The following table summarizes the percentage of the consolidated revenues for those tenants accounting for more than 10% of the Company's
consolidated revenues.

Years Ended December 31,
2024 2023 2022
T-Mobile 35 % 38 % 38 %
AT&T 19 % 19 % 18 %
Verizon Wireless 19 % 19 % 18 %
Total 73 % 76 % 74 %

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk are primarily cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and
cash equivalents and trade receivables. The Company mitigates its risk with respect to cash and cash equivalents by maintaining such deposits at high credit
quality financial institutions and monitoring the credit ratings of those institutions. The Company's restricted cash and cash equivalents are predominately held
and directed by a trustee (see note 2).

The Company derives the largest portion of its revenues from tenants in the wireless industry. The Company also has a concentration in its volume of
business with T-Mobile, AT&T and Verizon Wireless or their agents that accounts for a significant portion of the Company's revenues, receivables and deferred
site rental receivables. The Company mitigates its concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables by actively monitoring the creditworthiness of
its tenants, the use of tenant leases with contractually determinable payment terms or proactive management of past due balances.

15. Supplemental Cash Flow Information
The following table is a summary of the supplemental cash flow information during the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Years Ended December 31,

2024 2023 2022

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash payments related to operating lease liabilities® $ 566 $ 571 $ 560

Interest paid 895 800 684

Income taxes paid 17 18 10
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:

ROU assets recorded in exchange for operating lease liabilities 4 12 191

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable for purchases of property and equipment (33) 36 5)

Capitalized stock-based compensation 23 29 21

Purchase of property and equipment under finance leases and installment land purchases 69 62 28

(a) Excludes the Company's contingent payments pursuant to operating leases, which are recorded as expense in the period such contingencies are resolved.

The reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents reported within various lines on the consolidated balance sheet to
amounts reported in the consolidated statement of cash flows is shown below.

As of December 31,
2024 2023 2022
Cash and cash equivalents $ 119 $ 105§ 156
Restricted cash and cash equivalents, current 171 171 166
Restricted cash and cash equivalents reported within other assets, net 5 5 5
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash and cash equivalents $ 295 § 281 § 327
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16. Restructuring

2023 Restructuring Plan

In July 2023, the Company initiated the 2023 Restructuring Plan as part of its efforts to reduce costs to better align the Company's operational needs with
lower tower activity. The 2023 Restructuring Plan included reducing the Company's total employee headcount by approximately 15%, discontinuing
installation services as a Towers product offering while continuing to offer site development services on Company towers, and consolidating office space.

The 2023 Restructuring Plan included charges related to the (1) employee headcount reduction, including severance, stock-based compensation and other
one-time termination benefits and (2) office space consolidation, which included remaining obligations under facility leases and non-cash charges for
accelerated depreciation. The actions associated with the 2023 Restructuring Plan were substantially completed and related charges were recorded by June 30,
2024. The payments for the employee headcount reduction were completed in 2024, while payments for the office space consolidation are expected to be
completed in 2032. The following tables summarize the activities related to the 2023 Restructuring Plan for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2023

Employee

Employee
Headcount Office Space Headcount Office Space
Reducti C lidati Total Reducti C lidati Total
Liability as of the beginning of the respective year $ 16 $ 12 % 28 § — $
Charges (credits) — 9 9 63 22
Payments (14) (12) (26) (46) 4)
Non-cash items — 4) @) (1) (6)
Liability as of the end of the respective year $ 2 8 5 8 7 $ 16 $ 12 $

2024 Restructuring Plan

In June 2024, the Company initiated the 2024 Restructuring Plan as part of its efforts to drive operational efficiencies and reduce operating costs and

capital expenditures, with a primary focus on the Company's Fiber segment. As a result, the Company announced a reduction of the Company's total employee
headcount by more than 10% and the closing of certain offices.

The 2024 Restructuring Plan includes charges related to the (1) employee headcount reduction, including severance, stock-based compensation and other
one-time termination benefits and (2) office closures, which includes remaining obligations under facility leases and non-cash charges for accelerated
depreciation. The actions associated with the 2024 Restructuring Plan were substantially completed and the related charges were recorded by December 31,
2024, while the payments are expected to be completed for the employee headcount reduction in 2025 and office closures in 2033. The Company may incur

other charges or cash expenditures not currently contemplated due to unanticipated events that may occur, including in connection with the implementation of
the 2024 Restructuring Plan.

The following table summarizes the activities related to the 2024 Restructuring Plan for the year ended December 31, 2024:

Year Ended December 31, 2024

Employee Headcount

Reduction Office Space Consolidation Total
Liability as of December 31, 2023 $ — 3 — 3 =
Charges (credits) 39 61 100
Payments (34) (10) $ (44)
Non-cash items 4 (12) 8§ (®)
Liability as of December 31, 2024 $ 9 8 39 8 48

As of December 31, 2024, the liability for restructuring charges is included in "Other accrued liabilities" and "Other long-term liabilities" on the

consolidated balance sheet, and the corresponding expense is included in "Restructuring charges" on the consolidated statements of operations and
comprehensive income (loss).
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The Company does not allocate restructuring charges between its operating segments. If charges related to the Restructuring Plans were allocated to
operating segments, for the year ended December 31, 2024, $13 million and $64 million of the aforementioned charge would have been allocated to the
Company's Towers and Fiber segments, respectively, with the remaining $32 million allocated to Other. Similarly, for the year ended December 31, 2023,
$44 million and $18 million of the aforementioned charge would have been allocated to the Company's Towers and Fiber segment, respectively, with the
remaining $23 million allocated to Other.

17. Subsequent Events
Common Stock Dividend

On February 26, 2025, the Company's board of directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $1.565 per common share. The quarterly dividend will be
payable on March 31, 2025, to common stockholders of record as of March 14, 2025.

Strategic Fiber Transaction

On March 13, 2025, the Company signed the Strategic Fiber Agreement to sell its Fiber Business, with Zayo acquiring the fiber solutions business and
EQT acquiring the small cell business. Under the Strategic Fiber Agreement, the Company will receive $8.5 billion in aggregate, subject to certain closing
adjustments. The Fiber Business did not meet the criteria for assets held for sale as of December 31, 2024, and therefore remains presented as a component of
continuing operations. In subsequent periods, the Fiber Business will be presented as a discontinued operation, and its net assets will be classified as held for
sale and comparable prior periods will be recast to reflect this change. Upon classification as held for sale in the first quarter of 2025, the Company expects to
recognize a loss of between $700 million and $800 million, inclusive of estimated transaction fees. This Strategic Fiber transaction is expected to close in the
first half of 2026, subject to certain closing conditions and regulatory approvals.
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